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PREFACE

o ——

VA 2 F1IS account of Naini T2l has been compiled
w MY under the discetions of His Excellency the
%ﬂ Lty Governor in the hope of prescrving some
memories of the past which must otherwise, in the
ordinary cousse, bc speedily forgonten; and of intercsung
visitors (o the summer capital of the United Previnces.

The original draft of Chapter 1 was prepared by
Mr. L. C. L. Griffin, I.C.S., Assistant Commissioncr,
Naini Tal. Mr. E. A, T1. Blunt has kindly contributed
the section on the AD.S. in Naini Tal; and Mr. Tillarg,
the seclion op the Naim Tzl Yacht Club. Chapters 11
lo IV desliug with the flora and fauna and birds arc
the work of expert officers: Mr. A. E, Qsniaston, Deputy
Conscrvator, assisted by his brother My. B, B. Osmaston,’
who has retired from service, and by Mr, H. G. Cham-
pion, Deputy Censcrvater. The material for Chaprer V
was supplied by the Public Works Department.

J. M. CLAY,
Deputy Commissioner, Naini Tal.







NAINI TAL
CHAPTER 1
HISTORICAL AND DESCRIPIIVE ACCOUNT

\ arry Hx1oRy,

HE hill station of Naini Tal is the creation

of tlic British. It has, therelore, no history

=224y before its discevery in 1847 by M, Barron,

and s subsequent rapid development as a hill setion,

and as tbe summer head-quarters of the Governtent of

the United Provinces. As an introduclien {0 an account

of the growth and peesent condition of Naini “Yal, all

that can De atwmpted is to trace biicfly the history of the

hill arca areund it, which forms part of the territory
known [rom the carliest times as Kumaun.

Trr Crano Rajas.

In caly times Kumaun was divided into small prin-
cipalities, and the arca with which we are conccrned was
subject to various branches of the Khasiya family. The
fiust dynasty 10 achicve consoliddted dominion over K-
aun was the Chand dynasty. The traditional (ounder of
this dominion was Som Chand, of thusi on the Ganges
ncar Allahabad, who, in about the seventh century, mar-
ried the daughter of the Katyurt Raja, then holding sway
in the iaterfor of Kumaun. Champawat, in the present
district of Alimoxa, was given as the lady’s dowry, as

4



2 NAINI TAL

wecll as land in the Bhabar and Tarai. With Som Chand
came in the feshi Brahmans, a clan which subscquently
playcd an important part in Kumaun history,

Champawat was thus the nucleus from which the
Chand dominien expanded over the whole of Kumaun.,
But it was many centuries befere this was accomplished,
and the arca areund Naini Tal was onc of the last to be
absorbed. Bhim Tal is only thiricen milcs frem Naini
Tai, and there, in the thirieenth century, Triloki Chand
built a fort to protect his frontiers. But, at that time,
Naini Tal itself was not undcr the Chand rule, and re-
mained on thc westeen border of the kingdem. In the
reign of Udhyan Chand, who succecded in 1420, the
Chand boundary on the west appears to have been
formed by the rivers Kosi and Sual, and Ramgarh and
Kotah sell remained under the former Khasiya rule.
Kirat Chand, who rcigned from 1488 to 1503, and
greatly extended his tervitory, finally overran and an-
nexed the arca including Naini Tal, which had so long
remained independent.

The K hasiyas made one attempt to reassert their in-
dependence. In 1560, headed by the Khasiya of Ram-
garh, they enjoyed a bricf moment of succcss, but were
quickly subdued with ruthless severity by Babu Kalyan
Chand. There was little or ne attempt to administcr the
hill arca at this period. The mahals which are mentiened
in the Ain-i-Akbari arc all situated in the plains, and the
hills were exempted from payment of revenue on account

of their poverty.
. L]



FHSTORICAL AND DESCRIPYIVE ACCOUNT 3

One of the chicf occupations of the Chand Rajas was
waging wur against Carhwal, the tradinonal enemy.
During the reign of Db Chand, who succeeded in 1720,
Kumaun was actually invaded by the Garhwalis, but no
lasting occuption cesuited.

Twenty years later the Kumaun hills were again in-
v.auled, this time hy the Rohillas, ‘with whom war broke
outin 1743. The latier penetrated as far as Bhim Tal and
plundcred it. They were, howcever, eventually bought off
by the Raja of Garhwal, who had formed a semporary
alliance with Kalyan Chand, at that time Raja of Kum-
aun. Another invasion, two ycars latec, was rcpulsed by
Shib Deo joshi, prime minister of Kalyan Chand.

With (he death of Xalyan Chand in 1947, the power
of the Kumaun Rajus began to wane. Hu was succeeded
by Dip Chand, his son, an exteemcly weak young man,
whose interests were solely religious and whe devoled
himscl{ to the building of tcmplcs, the Bhimcshwar tem-
plc at Bhim Tal being the only one which concerns us
here. Fortunately, however, Shib Deo Joshi was still
prime aninister, and during bis lifetime Kumaun pros-
pered. But in 1764 he was killed by some muiiuous
soldicts, and from hat ¢ate onwards the plains becaine
peictically independent of the hill state of Kumaun, of
which they bad hitherto been the most valuable portien.

Aftce the death of Shib Deo [ashi, the affairs of
Kumaun wcre thrown into still further confusion by the
intrigue of the Runi, wife of Dip Chand, on tle one
hand, and of Mohan Singh, an tupstart Rrotela, an the
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ether. It is unnceessary to enter into the details of the
ncxt few years” events. It is sufficicnt to say that Mohan
Singh, after putting the Rani te death, succeeded in mur-
dering Wip Chand and lis two sens in 1777- Mohan
Singh Uien proclaimed himself Raja, as Mohan Chand.
His rule, which was marked by persccution of the Joshi
family, was shortlived, fer in 1779, Kwnaun was invaded
by Lalat Sah, Raja ol Gathwal, who placed his owu son,
Parduman, on the throne. Mohan Chandd fled, and the
Joshis, of whom Harakh Bco was now the head, were
constituted the principal advisers of the new Raja. Par-
duman atterapted to add his native Garhwal to his newly
acquired kingdom of Kuwaaun. Buring his abscnee,
Molin Chand again camc to the front. War cnsued bet-
waen him and the Joshis, who remained loyal to the
Gaurhwal rule. Mehan Chand was killed, but his place
was taken by his brolher, Lal Singb, and in 1788 e
Joshi party was completcly defeated necar Bhim “Lal.
Thercafier Lal Singh became supreme, and the Jashis
were persceuted.

Tis Gurrmas.

Mcanwhile a ncighbouring power, the Gurkhas, was
watching with interest the state of aflairs in Kumaun.
With the aid of the defcatcd Harakh Pco Joshi, the
Gurkhas invaded Kumaun and, owing to the confusion
into which the country had latcly been thrown by the
struggles of the rival factons, succceded in subduing it
Little of intcrest occurred during the Guskha sule. Their
policy was onc of repression, although the administratior
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in Kumaun was less scvere than that in Garhwal.
Gurkha domination did not last long. “In 1814, the
Briush Government turncd dhcir attention to Kumaun.
The East jndia Cetpany was interested in the hills,
owing to the hemp produced there, of which large quan-
titics passed thirough the Company’s factory at Kashtpur,
then under the supevnkendence of Dr. Rutherford,
Lord 1astings, the Covernor-General, atte pted to
annex Kumaun peaccably, and the Hon’ble Mr. Gardnes
was sent fiom Delbi to open negotrations with Bam Sah,
the Governor of Kumaun. These negokiations {ailed,
and, early in 1815, war was declared.

ANNEXATION.

The actual operations were not closely concerned
with the hill arca around Nainj Tal, whick is o main
interest, anid it is sufficient to say that the British ob-
tained the cession of Kumaun in December r8r5. They
were aided by the vetcran Harakh Deo Joshi. Mr, Gard-
ner was appeinted first Commissioner of Kumaten, with
bead-quatters at Almora, but wus shortly afterwards suc-
ceeded by Mr. Tralll. Mr. Traill, whose administration
was practically unfettered by any centralt authority, e
muained Coaunissioner until x83e. He was succceded by
Colonel Gowan, who was followed in 183¢ by Mr.
Lushington. In 848, Mix. Batten became Commissioncr,
and was, in his tura, succeeded in 1856 by Captain Ram-
say, who later become. Major-General Sir Henry Ram-
say, Sir Henry Rums:l]v’s rule lasted for twenty-eight
years; and to this day he is spoken of as “the king of
Kureaun.” 7
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Descoviny or Namvi TaL.

At this point we may turn to Naini Tal itself, whaose
individual history can be traced from the year 1841. The
first recorded discovery of Naini Tal was in the ycar
1847 on November 18. Mr. Barron, of Rosa, ncar Shah
jahanpur, who hzd been touring in the IQumaun hills
in scarch of health and sccnery, arrived there with
twe companisns. Onc of these was Captain Wellex,
of the Enginccrs, whe was Executive Officer of Public
Works in IQusiaun. Mr. Burren had beecn staying with
him at his caup on the banks o the Kessila river, about
25 miles below Alwora, The other was a fiend to whoin
he refers as “my companion, Capuin C.” Mr. Iuron,
in his “Notes of wanderings in the Himmala™* under
the pem de plume of “Pilgrim”, does not take 10 hivncl{
the credit of being the first Zuropean visitor 1o the Jake.
He mentions the fact that Mr. Traill, the Cominissioner
of Kumaun, was said to have paid a visit Io i1 some years
. prcviously, but he adds that no Ruropean then ccsiding
in Kumaun had scen it, and that he had net been able
to discover mote than three visitors to it elncc the pnsv-
ince had comc into British posscssxon. Yo s curious
that a place, so sunable frem cvery point of view as a
hill scttlement, sheuld have remained se long undis-
cevered, but this is possibly explained hy the fact that
the lake was held particularly sacred by the hill men,
who did cverydhing in their power to prevent (s being
polluted by the intrusion of Eurepcans. The legend of
_i% supcrnatural origin i3 meawoned Jater. Mr. Barres

*Pablished ur Agra, 1844.
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in fact relaws that they had the utmost difhculty in
prevailing on their guide to Jead them to the lake.
But anether factor contibuting te this isolation was
very probably, as suggested by Mr. Batten, the Senior
Assistant Commussiuner, the attitude of Mr. Traill, the
latc Commissioner.  His power in Kumaun was prace-
cally unfetiered,and he excrcised it jealously, and
wisliked (he possibility of any influx of European in-
truders into his domains. So frec was he frem supervasion
that on one occasion when a letier {rom the Board of
Revenue referred him 0 a Regulation, he replied that
e bad sccn nouc of the Acts of Government for many
ycars.

Naini Tal busin [rom the dircetion of Khaitna through
St. Loo Gorge. They remained only ‘one night and
left again the next day, Mr, Bacron and Captain C.,
going to Ramgad, and Capleun Weller returning to
his camp. Mr. Barron was very much iropressed with
Naini Tal, and its possibilitics as a hill station and as a
sanatorium, and was enthusiasiic over the beauty of the
scencry, the crystal clearness of the water, and the
plentiful animal Jife.

His next visit was a year later in December 1842,
This time he aerived from Bhim Tal, where he had
juined his friends, Mr. Baten and Caplain Weller. The
place had pot remazined in its formier obscurity since his
previous visit. It had been cxamined under efficiat
instzactions, and the resule were alrcady nosiceable,

7" Mr.Barion and his two companions entered the
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About hal a dozen sites had already cither been applied

for or granted; and Mr. Lushington, the Commissioner, .
had started to butld a small house. Moreover, 1he Com-

missioner had alrcady planncd eut a bazar en the site

of the present Malli Tal. aad thc Gevernment had fixed

a general rent for land at twelve annas per acre. This

rapid development of Naini Tal was appavently welceme

to the hill peeple, whe, ascerding o Mr. Barron, were

“flncking in” w0 take lcascs of Tund for shops. Mr.

Barron himself selected three sitcs. |

Mr. Batron had brought with him from the plains
a boar, measwring about 20 feet in length. Afscy some
difficulty, it reached Naini “Tal safely the day after his
arnval, 2ad he and his feiciuls lacuched it on the lake,
and weat for a row. The inhabitants were, in Mr.
Bairon’s words, “frantic with joy at the novel and
uncxpected spectacle”, and on their safe return to land,
hc and his [riends were flattered with references to
Hindu mythology, whercin they were likened 10 the
god Vishnu emcrging frem the ocean,

On theix second tnp thcy managed te persuade a
z/zo/(dar, Nar Singh, to comc into the boat with them. .
This Nar Singh had rccently failed to cstablish his
claim to Naini Tal and the surrounding mountaios in
Mr . Batten’s covrt, and tlic matter was pow undex appeal.
Mr. Barren, whose sense of humour sceins % have been
primitive, miade him waive bis claim 1o writing on the
page 9f a pocketbook, while on the lake, by threatcning
o npsct the boat. On their r¢tura to shore, My. Barron

s
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cxhibiled this documcent to the assembled crowd, who
were, so he says, defighted with the practical joke: to
explain their appreciation of it he adds that all the
paharis of Kumaun, howcever poor, could read and
write,and could thus at a glance undcrstand the docu-
ment. The claims of the unfortunate Nar Singh, it muy
be added, were finally met by his appoinuncat, on his
own application, as patwari of the new scttlement on
five rupees per month. This visit of Mr. Barron and his
(ricnd Jasted for 1three days, and on Deceorber 14 they
lef¢ Naini Tal. : :
[When Mr. Barron next came o Naini Tal, in
November 1843, the seulement was well advanced. He
found a housc being built on the hills on cither side
of the vutlet of the lakcfwhere the Talli Tal bazar now
seauds, and three houses begun upon the lawn at the
upper end of 1he fake, where 1he Flaws are now situated.
Quite a large party spent Christmas in Naini Talfand ia
the evening the company sat down to dinner in Pilgrim.,
Lodge. This was the house built by Mr Barron for
himnsclf; and it s sl in exisience, being now one of the
cottages belonging to the Club. Itis diificult to ascezt ta
which of the ether original hduses ace standing at the
present day, or cxactly where they were situated; but it
is ccrtain that Mr. Lushington, the Commissioner, buift
himself a housc. Among the first applicanis for building
sis in Naiad Tal are found alse the naoxs of Mr. G.
B. Saundcrs of Shahjahanpur (probably introduscd 1o the
place by Mr. Basron},a Mr. Maclean, also a ncighbour
of Mr. Bazron’s at Shahjahaopur, and a Dr. Colquhoun.
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Aftec this, Naini Tal grew rapidly. But beforc we
leave the story of its discovery, in which Mr. Barron
played se important a part, it is intercsting to noticc
that his motive in publishing accounts ef his visis, in
which {w dwelt very strongly on the natural beauty of
the placc and its advantages as a hill station, were im-
pugned by a gentleman who wrote under the non de
plume of “Bagman™ iw a papcr called “The Hills.”
“Bagman” seems to have been apprehensive of the rival
attractions which Naumi Tal might offer to Simla and
Musseoric. He accused Mr. Barron of gross exaggeration
of the Iacts regarding MNaini ‘Tal, suggested that the
lake was, in reality, stagnant and uebealthy, and as-
serted that the place was practically inaccessible, the reads
being dangerous to a pedestrian, In fact, according te
“Br;yman,” the publicity given to Naini Tal was mercly
a wheine of (he residents of Kumaun, led by Mr. Barron,
[or their personal advantage. Mr. Barron teok this attack
vety seriously, and devoted a loag appendix in his beok,
alteady quoted, to refuting the imputation made by the
despicable “Bagman™, whose identity lLe apparently
knew, and whom, tn the last werds of his beok, he
describes as “‘the man who used to go out shooting the
chamois with rae, crawled on all-fours, and werc a pair
of green specwacles.”

Tere Muviny.
By the time that the Mutiny breke eut in 87, Naini

Tal was becerning an imporent place. There was, for-
winately, no outbreak of diserder there; but fears were
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at onc time cnicriained that an attack would be made
on it. It played an important pact; tue, indirecly as a
place of sccurity for refugees. A short account is given
by Major Ramsay (as he then was), the Commissioner,
of the most important cvens “ateending the eutbreak
of distarbances and the restorasion of authority in the
distsice of Kumaun.” The report is dated Naini Tal,
Tuly 22, 1858, and is included in the large volume con-
taining reporks from all the disicicts te the Government
of the North-Westetn Provinges.

The first news of the Muliny rcached Majer Ramsay
on May =22,when hc was in the snowy ranges of
Garhwal. He hastened © Almora, and, after making
nccessary arrangements there, proceeded to Naini Thal,
which was by that time his hcad-quarters, Thence he
dirccted operations to prescrve order in the plains below,
where hordes of daceits from Rampur and Moradabad
were pillaging and laying waste the country-side. Barly
in Juae, rcfugees arrived in Naini Tal from Bareilly and
Moradabad. All who started, with rthe exception of

srgeant Stables from Barailly, seached the hills im
safety. From Junc 6, for nearly a month, Namni Tal was
completely cut off from comnmunication with the plains,
but carly in July a délz line was established across the
hills to Mussooric,

About the middle of Junme, disorder began to occur
among the cvil-disposed of the hill people, chicfly along
the cdge of the plains. Major Ramsay, who had no
distriet police, realizing that if this continued, the posi-
tion at Naibi Tal might becowne critical, adopied stern

an AN
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mcaswres, He proclaimed martial law  thoughout
Kuniaun, and when sentenees of long terms of imprison-
ment upon dacoits proved ineflecuve, he resorred to
capital punisiuncnt. This had the desired result, and the
hilis once again hecame peacclulf There is a tradition
that somc of these dacous were hanged from a tree in
the prescnt Hlawksdale ¢seate, This s confirmied by
several Indian residents, who were children at the time,
or were boru shordy afterwards, and who, no doubt,
had the story from cycwitnesses. The bay below Hawks-

.dale also is shown on old maps as Hangman’s Bay.

After the arrival ol the refugees, it became cvident
that there was no prospect of immediate relief. Funds
were very low, and consequently Major Ramsay, with
the assistance of Mr. Colvin, drew up a scale of allow-
anccs, which wcre paid monthly to every Kuropean in
Naini Tal. A simiiar practice was adopted in the Fort
at Agra, the head-quarters of Governnent, and oflicrals
were allowed to draw the balance due 1o them at the
ratc of 2¢ 0 in England. Advances werc made on
recsipts, and Major Ramsay, at the time of writing his
report, stated that nearly all had been adjusted.

The Raqrld festival eccurred that year at the end
of July. Although the Nawab of Rampur (who had
alrcady helped the residents of Moradabad, led by the
Judge, Mr. Cracrolt Wilson, o escape to Naini Tal) was
dwng cverything in his powet to prescrve order in his
territories 30d to assist the Government, it was fearced
that a serious disturbance might break out there; and
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that a successful insurrcctien muwust culminate in an
attack on Naini Tal. As a precautionary measure, there-
forc, Major Ramsay sent over all the women and
children, amounting in number to about (wo hundted,
te Almera. They returned to Naini Tal after the Bagr-Id
festival had passed without distarbance; and this was the
only exodus from Naini Tal.

¢ Although Naini Tal remained undistorbed, fighting
was going on round Haldwani all drough the winter.
The British forces in the district at the time consisted
of the 66th Gurkhas and the 8th Inegolar Cavaliy.
f.ater on they were reinforeed by the Nepal contingent
and the Kumaun levies. Thesc forces were occupicd
mainly 0 quelling Jisturbimces in the phins below;
but a party remained at Naini T'al 0 protect the passes
on the Rampur side. There was, at this time, great
d;{nculty in obrining coolics, owing to the panic pre-
vailing among the bill men. Major Ramsay, in June
1858, solved this difficulty by releasing forty convicts
from the jail and using them as coolies, without puards,
on-the propusc dhat, if they behaved ‘well, they should
be seleased al the end of the year, while if they failed,
they would be banished from the hills., This device was
most success{ul. The coolics worked well, and on ene
occasion attacked a body of dacoits near Kaladunghi,
and killed scveral of them. Throughout this period
Major Ramsay retained Mr. Batten at Naini Tal. Major
Ramsay hinisell was constancly on the move, and he
fele the nccessity of keeping one civil officer in the
station %0 keep order and w0 dispose of the numerous
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applications, which were received {rem all sides, withaut
delay.

No further events of importance eccurred in Naini
Tal doring the Mutiny. Though the placc was isolated
fer a time, and occasionally threatened from the plains,
uts rdle was a peaceful one, and chiefly that of afferding
shciter to refugces [rom the ncighbouring pla 1T Stations.
Judging by pcivate lctters from residents to friendly
Indians ia the plains, who had oflered assistance, the
chiel material need was for beer. Bug, before passing
on, it is of intcrest w reler to a leteer of Major Ramsay’s
to the Government of the North-Western Provingces,
dated Janwary 21, 1858, which throws light on the
general situation in Naini Tal and Kumaun during the
Mutiny., Government had senr an ordes t0 Major Ramsay
to remove all ladics and children 10 Mussaoric, The
reasons given for this were two; first, that many Jadies
desired to leave Naini 'fal with a vicw to proceeding fo
England, and second, that the prescnce of ladies and
childrcn at Naini Tal cmbarrassed the authoritics and |
prevented any attemgt being made from that Quarter
to reswore order in Rohilkhand: Major Ramsay did not
comply with the ordcr, and "llis reasons are given at
Jength in this letter. BrieBy they were, that the journey
could no longer be undertaken witheut great hardship
owing to the weather and lack of transport; that scveral
ladics had left Naini Tal in October and Novembet r857;
that cvery onc had then the epportunity; and that no
onc wished to relinquish theix comf{ortable houses at
Naini Tal, for whose rent they had made themsclves
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persenally responsible, and to incur the addilcnal ex-
pense of hiring another house at Mussooric “wherc the
rent is most exorbitant and accommodadon very scarce.”
It is evident that a feeling of security prevatled in Naini
Tal. Tlits is {urther born¢ out by Major Ramsay’s com-
ment on the peint ratscd by Government abeut the
embarrassment causcd to military epcrations by the
presence of ladics. ““The natwral defences of Naici Tal”,
he wriles, “arc so steeng that the women and children
arc safer therc than at Mussoerie. Tlic statien can only be
approached from the plains by two NATTOW Passcs, which
can be defended by a handful o ‘men with no other
weapons than stonés, and, although the Barcilly rche]
chicf during the last six months sent 3,000 to 5,000 mcn
to destroy the Europeans in Kumaun, these rebels have
never been able to enter the outside pass which was
defended by the police furkandazes only; and that point
was cleven miles distant from Naini Tal. The hill
people of Kwinaun have no sy mpathy with rchels of the
plains and were always ready to assist in defending #he
passcs against any attempt the rebels could have made.
Bot now therc is no danger to be anticipated. Perfect
confidence has been established all over the Kumaun
ldlls, Thousands of the inhabitants have resortcd to
the Bhabar, which is, in fact, occupied by the hill people,
and the rebels have even dcserted their Tarat haunts.
Usnder such circumstances the removal of all women and
children would disturb the present quiet, and make a
panic throughout the district, as well as cause a great
deal of disgust if the inhabitants were to be scized as
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coolics and compelled to carry loads beyond their limits,
which would be absolutely nccessmy in the deserted
parts above alluded to . . . . . T have full pos-
scssion of the forest (twelve miles broad) at the foot of
the hills . . . As regrards the Kumann hills, the
66thy Regiment has long been available. T don’t require
it to protect Naini Tal, or any other station. The levics
now being insteucted are quite strong cnough to give
perfect security to the hills, and the women and children
at Naini Tal nced not detain the 66th a day in this
district,” That there were, however, some alarmists at
Naini Tal appears {rom the following scntence: “1 dare
say the removal of the Géth will create uneasiness in the
minds of a few alarmists (well known at Naini Tal) who
imagire themsclves in danger if they hear of a few
weavers ordered by Khan Bahadur Khan to proceed to
Bareilly: but thesc may ge to Mussooric, if they choose,
and nced not be taken into consideratien at all” The
Goveroment was fully satisfied with Major Ramsay’s
reasons {or not carrying out the orders.

Tue Summrr HEADQUARITRS.

james Thomason (Lieutenant-Governor, 1843-53)
spent scveral hot weathers in the hills at Simla. In
1353, after remainung through the hot months at Agra,
then the provincial head-quarters, he travelled in ill-
health to Barcilly and intended o visit Naini T'2l, but
died before he could do so (Life by R. Temple, pp. 124,
203-6). It wasnot tll shortly af ter the Mutiny that Naini
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Tal became the sumuer bead.quarters of the North-
Woestern Provinces. The actwa) date is uncertain, as no
record of the mawer survives. But Stoneleigh, on the
site of the present Ratosay Hospial, the fest residence
of the Licutcnant-Governor, was occupied about 1862,
and il was prokably in this year that the Government
offices {irst moved to Naini Tal. In some laser ycars a
move was mmadc so Malden House, which was sitwated
just at the bead of the great landslip,and was subsc-
quently demelished as uasafc.

Cruser BUrLpInGs.

One of dhe cailiest buildings erccacd in Naini Tal
was the church of *St. John-in-the-wildesness.” The site
was chosen as eatly as 1844 and approved by the Bishep
ol Calcutta, Daniel Wilson.- The name appears o have
originated from him;and as Naini Tal had been dis:
cavered only 1n 1841, the reason for ity choice-is obvious.
The plans were prepared by Captain Young, Executive
Engiacer, and the cerner stone was laid in October 1846.
"The cost of the original structure was abeut Rs, 15,000,
and was met by private subscription and pew rents. It
was first opesed on April 2, 1848, though rot yet com-
pletcd. In 1856, it was taken over by Government as a
public building. Since then the church has been con-
siderably enlarged. Therc are several memorials tn the
vhorch : and af these, two may here be mentioned. One
commemorates those who wete killed in the landshsp of
1880, and this will be described laser on. The other, the

most recent of ali, is the memonil tablet to those
X
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members of the Indian Civil Service, who were killed
in the War (1914-r918).

The present Asscmbly Rooms were built shortly
aftcr the great landslip, which destroyed the older build-
ings, at a cost of Rs. 3g,600.,/This sum was raised by the
issue of dehenturcs, and intérest at the rate of 7 per cent.
is s0ll paid. They have not been so successful Anancially
as was originally hoped. At the time of building, it was
expected that the debennires would be quickly paid off
from the estimated annual profit. This is very far frem
being the casc. For one reason or another the profits
have been much less than was expected. Only Rs. 9,600
have been paid off, and a debt of Rs. 30,000 siill remains.
The profts arc now barcly suihicient to pay the interest
duc on the debenturcs, and to keep the building in repair.
its prescnt condition is not what might be desired. {The
Assembly Rooms arc under the management of the
mumapal boacd,iwhosc meetings are held theee. There
is at present a scheme under consideration for demolish-
ing the present building, and crceting somcthing better.

The Ramsay Hospital was completed in 1892, It
was crected as a memorial to Sir Henry Ramsay, who
was for so long Commissioner of Kumaun. The original
building cost two and a quartcr lakhs and various addi-
tions have since becn made. Subseriptions {or its con-
sttuction were collected throughout the province. It is
maintained by income derived from invested caplml by
donat'ons and by fces from panent,. It also receives aid
from Governnient. But the expensts of munimmng 2
wellequipped and completely staffed hospital in the
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hills are constantly rising, and the Commitxe have
increasing difficulty in making both ends meet. The
hospital has served the Europcan residents of the entise
province most cfliciently for over a generation, and few
institutions have a better claim on the public support.
The Cresthwaite Hospital was opened in 1896 by
Sir Antony MacBonnell on his first visit o Naini Tal
as Licuscnant-Governor. It was named afer, and the
foundation stonc was laid by, Sir Charles Crosthwaiic,
the preceding Licutenant-Governor, It was crected at a
cost of Rs. 33,733 on the Bellevue estak, purchased for
this puepo.se from Lala Burga 3ah, and on an adjoining
picce of land, formerly the sitc of the District Engincer’s
office. The Ramsay Haspital had originally been in-
tended as a hospiial for Europeans and Indians alike, but
this arrangcment was found to be impracticable, as the
hospital is too far away from the Malli Tal bazar for the
convenience of Indian paticnts. In consequence, the
Crosthwaite Hospital was founded. /The cost of constrac-
tion was, ¥ a large extent, met by private centibutions
and a donation from the Ramsay Hospital. The hespital
is maintained by the municipal board. ™
The Grand Hotel Jas is apparcnt from its structure,
has been built gradually and enlarged by additions. It
2 was built by a Mr. Tom Murray between 1870 and 1872,
and was first known as the Mayo Hotel. Mr. Murray
afwcrwards became bankrupt, and the hotel has since
passed through many hands. It was later known as the
Albion Hotel, and was renamed the Grand Hotcl in 18¢8
when in the possession of Messrs. Murray & Co. ™
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The Club giounds contain somic of the oldest build-
ings in Naini Tal. Pilgrim Lodge, the first house to be
built, has alrcady been mentioned.  Blythe Cotrage,
Sunnyside and Cypress Cottage arc all also to be found
on a map made in 1872, A main Club bulding also
exssted au that date, but the present main block was
built in 18g2. The recerds of its {eundation havc appa-
rcntly not survived.

The building of St. Joseph’s College was cempleted
in 1889, and was opened by Sir Auckland Colvin,
Licutcnant-Governor. The arrival of St. Joseph’s College
in Naini Tal was due to the transfer in 1887 by thc
authoritics in Rome of Darjecling frem the diocess of
Allahabad to the archdiocese of Calcutta. Hitherto, the
schoo! for Cathelics of the Allahabad Diacese had been at
Darjceling, where Father Caglebert, O.N.C. presided
over St. Joseph’s Seminary. It was now moved to Naini
Tal, still under Father Eaglcbcrl.t’Thc pupils arrived
towards the cnd of January 1888, and, until their new
premises were ready, lived in a rented house, Long
View, a {ew yards away from the Colleged The site was
purchased from a Mr, Read for Ks. 725000,and the
building cost Rs. 47,800. The large playing fickl was
subscquently purchased ata cost of Rs. 500 per acee.™

The present sive of Philander Smuth College on Sher-
' ka-danda Bill was purchased in 188¢ {roin a Mr. Pctman.
The extensive buildings which now exist have been built
graduzlly snce dhen, and a large dormitory block has
recently been constucted. ‘The site is over 7,500 fect
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above sea-level and is the highest school site in India,
probably in the world.

Tue Lanmscie or 1880.

Mr. Barron, when describing the advantages of Naini
Tal as a hill station, did not take into account the possie
bility of landslips. Of thesc, there have buen several, but
fthic landslip of the year 1880 was, by far, the most dis-
astrous. The cvents of that ume have been described by
Mr. C. T. Atkinson in his Kumaun Guzetteer.)) Fle was
himself an cyewitness, and it seems best, therefore, to
quotc his own nzarrative heie, along with the accounts
which he collected from other witnesses. Fle says:—

“The rain commnenced to fall steadily and without
cessation from Thursday the 16th of Scpteraber, 1880,
until Sunday evcning, the igth, During Friday and
Saturday, 33 inches of rain fell, of which 26 to 25 inches
had faller in the 40 heurs preceding Saturday evening.
The rain was acosmpanicd by violent gusts of wind
from the east; the roads were injuirced, the water.courses
choked, and there was a general saturation of the sotl
in all places where the loose debris of rotten shale, of
which the northern ridge is composed, allowed the water
to penetrate. There was much clearing of new sites
during the previous year, and the builders did not always
provide for the derangement of natural drainage chan-
ncls. In many places the waser was allowed to sink into
crevices an the hill and find new outlets for itsclf, and
this it did with a vengeance. In 1846, a slip occurred w0
the west of the present onc, destroying the old Victoria
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Hotel. in 1809, thi's was enlarged, and the scored sides
of the ridge below Alma bear witness to its extent. On
the site where the slip ol 1880 occurred, was the Victoria
Hotel and its offices, and below it was the kmplk on the
margin of the lake, and close to it Bell’s shop, and fur-
ther on the Asscrably Rooms, also en the margin of the
Jakc. Abeut 10 a.m. on Saturday morning the fist slip
occurred in a part of the hillside immediately behind the
Victoria Hot], carrying away a portion of the out-houses
and of the western wing of the botel, and burying in
the ruin an English child and its nurse, and somc native
scrvants. Working partics were called for, and M:.
Leosard Taylor, CS., Mr. Morgan, Overscer, and a
party of soldcrs and officers from the depét sct w work
to dig out thosc that were huricd. In the mcantunc all
the residents in the hotel removed to safer quartess,
cxcept Colomel Taylor, R.E., who retired to a small de-
tached room below the hotel generally used as a billiard
room; and Major and Mrs. Morphy, with Mrs. Turnbull,
who came to offer their assistance, procceded to the
Assembly Rooms. All had made preparations o leave,
as nothing morc could be done; and about twenty
nunuics past one | passed from the hotel to the bazar
and, whilst passing with Mr. Wright, licard a ne1sc, and
saw a large boulder falling (rom the cliffl above tewards
the hotel. I thought nothing of it and went on. In an-
other wen minutes the Jandslip took place.

The whole hillside was one mass of scim-fluad
matter, and requited litde to sct it in motion. The state
of the bill has been deseribed as in dry weather a mass
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of the consisence of cat-meal, which, when mixed with
water, spread out like porridge. The motive power was
a shock of earthquake,a very common” occurrence in
these hills, and which was feit on that day by competent
observers in the Bhabar below and in Naint Tal nsclf.”

Several accounts of heir impressions by eyewitnesses
arc given by Mr. Aikinson. It will suffice here to quote
the two fullest:—

‘{/“A rumbling noisc, similar to that occasioned by the
falling of large masses of carth, was heard by many in
the station; and such as had an opportunity of leoking
towards the dicection of ahe crash could plainly sec vast
clouds of dust rzsing from the situation above described.
1t was apparent that a large portion of the hill behind the
hotel, from the Upper Mall, disunited, had descend-
cd with enormous vclocity and violence, had eompletely
buricd the hotel, and had dashed sogether inw an
unrccognizable heap, the orderly,room, the shop and
the Asscmbly Rooms. The wave of earth and water,
making a clean sweep of the extensive hotel premises,
had appaready driven the shop on to the Assembly
Rooms, casrying forward the massive building over 50
yards on to the public rooms;a portion of which was
hurled into the lake and the remainder reduced to a
heap of ruins. The camstsopbe, as far as can be as-
cermined, was the work of a few sccands only; <o that
cscape on the past of any who happencd #o0 be in the
course of the avalanche was practically impossible.”
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The otlier 2ccount runs : —

“Through the dripping rain came the sound of
crackling trees. Somne oaks on the hill-side, about 400
feet above Victoria, were observed falling fonward. A
boulder or two descended, and a shout ‘Run for your
hves!” was heard ringing up from the hotel. It was
followed by a neise which, to those near, suggested the
rumbling crash of thunder, and te o witness net far
distant, the hoarsc roew of checring for some person
rescied. By othiers on the ridge above aud en the seuth-
castern cdge of the lake, this noisc was not heard at all;
butitineant that the hill-side had fallen. In less than half
a minute the last stonc splashed into the lake. Scveral
great masses rolled down s swface, whilst a cloud of
hgbt-brown dust concealed iw north-western side and the
sitc af the Victoria from vicw. As to what had happened
in the inrerval ne two wittiesses are cxactly agreed. For
the close observation of details the time and the mood
were Wanting.”

The dead and missing nombered 151. Of these, 43
were Europeans and Eurasians. “Fhe Tscapes™, writes™
Mr. Atkinson, “were toany and narrow. S$ir Heary
Rarnsay, whilst dirccting operations at the east cnd of
the lakc, was overtaken by the great wave caused by the
debris, swept into the fake and, though at one time
waist-deep, succeeded in reaching safety on an ascent off
the road; but a British soidicr and several nan'ves were
swept aw-ay close beside hitn. A Mr, Walker was covered
up ® his shoulders by the outer f{ringe of the mud
torrent, but cscaped. A soldier and a native lad were
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swept into the lake and escaped by swunruing. Mrs.
Kmght and Mrs. Gray were in the upper storey of the
bwlding knawn 2s Bell’s shop, and were carn'ed down
with it and found amid the guders of the iron roof
landed on a heap of the debris, almost unhurt. Imme-
diatcly after the landslip, jets of water pomed forth from
reservoirs within the hill on the newly-made face, and,
{or seme time, marntained a dircction and volnme, which
showcd the great quantity and force of these factors in
the landslip. T will pass over the Saturcay night when
no one knew whether thexe weuld be another slip, as the
rain never ceased and boulders continually camc crashing
down {rem the hills ahove, Great cracks opened up and
becamc more casily traced; ane from the Mayo Hotel up
ta St. Leo Cottage, the wall of which was fissured suflz-
ciently Lo admit of a person walking through, and across
Government House, an arch in which was cracked, and
over the northesn slope of the hill. Another line further
cast, split into a rock on the sumnait of the lite ridge
above Fairlight : a third linc proceeded from the Club to
thegnd of the Cheena ridge by the road west of Fairlight.
All these were caused by the carthqualke, which was as
destructive on the northern slopes of Alma and Cheena
rs within the valley.;Sir Henry Ramsay, ably aided by
M. Willcaclks, C.E., and Mr. Lawder, C.E,, set to wetk,

ind soen placed the roads aud <lrainage on & better
[potmg than before.” ~7

'/ A Relief Fund, t help sarviving sniferers, was orgen-
ized. Sir Heary Ramsay was Chairman and Mr. Atkin-
son ccrctary.fA sum of Rs. Go,000 was diswrbuted

b .
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among the familics of thosc who had perished in the
landslip. /Prior to the landslip there had been a temple
and a dharmsala in the place where the Club Boat-house
now stands. They had both been erected about the time
of the first settlement in Naini Tal; the dharmsala by a
faqir, Parambar Baba; and the temple by Lala Meti
Ram Sah, the Almora contractor, who had built Mr,
Barron’s house and othets. " Thase were, of course, both
congpletely destroyed. The present temple, dedicated
likewise to Narayani (Naini) Debi, was built after the
landslip, on the site wheee the bell of the destroyed
temple was subsequently found. No attempt was rade
w recever the bodies of the victims of the landslip, but
the smafl .plot lying between the Mall and the lake to
thc wost of the Club Bmt-housc was consccralcd as thc

o

[tis now malntamcd as agmran by the munmpal bmrd

In 1881, a subscription was opencd to erect a merao-
rial Lo the victims of the fandslip. The memorial was
combined with a scheme, which had been for somc
time centcmplated, for enldrging the chancel in the
church, and included the provision of an cast window,
an alabaster reredos and a carved altar table.

The window const'sts of a serics of scenes dealing with
the Resurrection of the Dead. The following is a list
of hc subjects:—

Elijah raising the widow's son;
Elisha raising the Shunamixc’s son;
the man ratsed from Elisha’s grave;
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the vision of the valiey of dry bones;
the raising of Jairus’ daughter;

the raissng of the widow’s son at Nain;
the raising of Tabitha;

the raising of Eurychus; and

Christ in the attitude of blessyng.

The stonework of the window was curied out at
Dholpur, and cost Rs. 2,500. The alabaster reredos and
the plass for the cast window were designed and carried
out by Messrs. Clayton & Bcll, at a cost of [350 and
£500, respectively. The rercdes bears the inscription:
“Jesus Nazarenus Rex Judacomm.” The centre panet
represents Christ upon the Cross; the right panel, she
senturion; and the Icft panel, Mary Magdalene. Around
the sanctuary, on a brass ribban, are inscribed the words :
*To the glory of God and in memory of those who per-
ished in the great Yandslip—18th Scpkaber, 188c. They
dicd according to the Word of the Lord and He buried
them in thi's valley.”” The names of those who perished
are inscribcd en two brasses, one on cach side of the
reredos.

There rewains the carved alear. It was designed by
Mr. Simeon, and carved by Mr. W, Il Rabinson of

Allahabad. The superfrontal was madc by the Sisters of
Al Saints at Poona,

The entire work of the memorial was completed by
1885. Besides the general mcmorial, 2 privak onc was
erected to Mr. L. Tayler, C.S.,in the shapc of a rosc
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window in the south wtanscpt, It represents, in the
central light, a figure of the good Samaritan, and the
surrovnchng lights are filled with figures of angcls.
Beneath, is the inscription: “In memory of Leonard
Taylor, Esq., Bengal Civil Service; killed, 18th Scptem-
ber, 1880,

CEMETERIP.S.

The small cemctery on Ayarpata Hill is believed to
be the oldest. It was consccrated in 1842, though ne
burtal of earlics datc than 860 can Le ¢raced. The
cemetery was closed in 1892, The first burial in the
cemctery, attached o the church of St. Johu-in-the-Wil-
derness, took place in 1845, This cemetery is now wsed
only for the burial ol old residents of Naini Tal who have
becn members of St. John's congregation or who have
family vaults. Onc of the last burials there was that of
Sir George Knox, for many years 2 Judge of the Allah-
abad High Court. The civil cemetery now in uvsc is situ-
atedt about two miles ateng the Kaladhungi Road. It
was consecrated in 1899 and first used in r8¢2. It is
kaown as Saria Tal cemeiery. Among those buried there
are Surgeon-General Cathewood, and Messrs. Radice,
Boas, Burkitt and Bigg-Wither of the Indwn Civil
Sexvice. The Kale Khaa military cemetery is situated
about two and a half milcs along the Bhowali Road. It
was consccrated in 1895 and the first burial took place in
rgco. It contains the graves of Major-General Boyce,
A, Combe, and Colonel-Commandant Nugent, R.E.
Three Boer ptisoncrs taken in the South African War are
also buricd there.
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DRAINAGE SCMEMES,

{in spite of the appalling less of life and destruction to
property, the landslip had one benchcial effect. Beforc
the year t880, there was practically no drainage syskem in
Naini Tal. The catastrophe of that year brought home to
the authoritics the urgent need of onc. Accordingly, six
main ravines were lined with masonry and revetted, at a
‘cost of over two lakhs. This work was done by Gov-
ernment and its upkeep was then cntrusted to the muni-
cipal beard. Further drainage schemes continued te be
carried out, including the origival Sherka-<danda drain-
age schemes in the eight'es and early nineti'cs, which
<ost three lakhs. §

¥indcliffe drams, which had just becn rebuile by the
munict'pal board. The whole pesition was then reviewed
and found to be unsatisfactory. The municipal beard
could not command the tcchnical knowledge necessary
for the construction and upkeep of drains; and, at the
request of the prestdenr of the municipal board and of
the Commissioner, Government teansferred the manage-
ment of all public drains to the Public Works Depart-
ment, The annual contribution %o be madc s the Depart-
ment by die municipal board for this work was fixed at
Rs. 2,000.

Closely connected with this matter is the upkeep of
roads and protcctive works. Up to 1907, the upkeep of
the roads and protective works remained in the hands
of the municipal board, This arrangement was found to
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be unsatis(actory, as, since drainage works were ta the
hands of the Public Works Department, responsibility
was divided. In that year, therefore, the Bepartment
teck over roads and protective works in a certain defined
arca on payment of a further annual contribution of
Rs. 2,500 by the municipal board. The scheime was
carried o its logical conclusion in consequence of the
slip which occurred on Avarpata Hill in 1g1e and 1911.
The remaining roads and protcctive works were then
Laken over by the Govcrnment engineers, the municipal
board paying for this a further contribution. The muni-
cipal board is, howevar, still responsible for roads and
drains in the bazars, on which a sum of Rs. 2,000 is spent
annually.

Matters remained on this [ootng unt’l 923, when
the position was further modifed on the recommenda.
tion made hy the Burn Committee in 1gzr. (f he six
drainage systems of cast and west Sher-ka-danda, Cheena,
Bara Nala, Ayarpaca and Lalce Basin were taken out of
the bands of the municipality. In addition to this,
Rs. 22,000 in cash and labour were given by Government
{or repairs owing to damage caused by a landslip o Fairy
Hall drain in 1921. Government bad in practice always
given assistance whencver serious damage was caused by
heavy rainfall, and this assistance had ceme to be expect-
ed. As a result of the Committee's recommendatsons,
which were accepted by Governunent, any chim for hclp
arlsing sut of damage caused by rawnfall will, in future,
be considered on its merits. Beades being itself res
ponsiblc for the upkeep of roads and drains in the bazar
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alrcady mentioned, the municipality now makes an
annual contribute'on of ncarly Rs. 10,000 to the Depart-
ment for the maintenance of roads. J

vOrier LanpsLres.

The most impertant landslips in Naini Tal itself of
later date than r88c have been mentioned in connexion
with the question ol protective works and drainage.{It
remains only to mention the two Brewcty landslips of
1898 and 1924. In the former, twenty-eight people were
kilIed.}Of these, one was a European, Mr. R. Beechey;
an assistant in the brewery. Besides the damage to other
buildings, the brcwing and whisky distithtion buildings
were destroyed. {In the latter, known as the Charm Hill
landslip,}2» swecper and 2n Indian woman,and two
Indian travellers were killed. In addition, the Brewery
Restaurant; the police swtion outpost; the Governor’s
garage; the mwotor.cars swtion and various shops and
out-houses were cempletely destroyed. Damage was
also caused to the Nawmni Tal police lincs, which were
already insecurc and have since been condemaned; new
ones have been built on a site below the Deputy Com-
missioner’s office.

Tre Frats.

One of the beneficial effocts of the 880 Jandslip was,
as has been said, the systematic drainage of Naini Tal.
Another bencht was the construction of the Flats as they
now cxist. A small recrcation ground had existed there
before the landslip, but, as a result of it, the space avail-
able was largely increased. The ground is the property
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of the Governmcent, but is under the mapagement of the
munrcipélif}_r: The board has appointed a Flats Com-
mnttee, presided over by the Deputy Commissioner, o
safeguard the rights of the pubhc to the use of the
ground. After this has bcen done, the management and
allotment of the ground is handed over te the Gym-
khana Cemmuttce. The maxitaum rent to be paid we the
municipal board is a thousand rupees a year, and this is,
in praciice, always charged.

The Flats, being the only cxtensive picce of lewc]
ground within reasonable access, are of the greatest pos-
sible valuc te Naini Tal as a playground; and durmg
fine weather arc in consiant use tor polo (threc-a-side),
feotball, hockey and cricket. Polo turnaments are played
there in June and Scptember. The curve of the hill-side
turns the Flats ino an ampbitheatre, and serves to give
spectators an unusually good view. An American lady
visitor to Naini Tal on a sunny 2lternoon when a pelo
maich was in pregress, the band was playing and the
lakc was dotted witly white sails, is said to have obscrved
that she {elt home-sick : it reminded her of Concy Island.

Dsverormeny : 1895—192L.

( Sir Antony MacDonnell's period of office was an im-
portant one in Naini Tal’s history. He tock a keen in-
terest in the development and improvement of the hill
seatton, an intcrest which was duly appreciated by the
people. When he left Naint Tal in x9ot, the municipal
board presented an address to him. This is the only
instance of an address presented’ to a Licutenant-Governor
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by the local board) The following cxtract explains the
statc of affairs at the time: (it may be added that in
1896 there was a sharp outbreak of chelera in Naini

Tal): —

“In 1895, our position was a critical one; grave
anxicty was fclt for the salety of the hill-sides; the supply
of drinking water was inadcquat, and the gencral sani-
tary cendition of the town defective. During the past six
years the system of hill-side drainage has been cntirely
remode led and plced under corapesent supervision.
The abnermal rainfall of the last monsoon has [ully
proved the efficiency of the measures adopted.

(A sauisry committcc wwus appeinkd by Your
Honour in 1890, and, as one result of their recermenda-
tien, the new waterworks were epened by you two years
ago.) Thesc have cnabled the board to give the station a
good and abundant supply of water. The comparative
abscnec of epidemic diseasc during recent years has borne _
amply testimony to tic value of the many saniiary im-
provements introduced.

The cxpenditure cntatled by these measures has been
considerable, and the board beg to thank Your Honow:
for the liberal way in whgh. you have dcalt with their
finances./It is duc to this gencrous policy and to the
measures inaugurated uader Your Honour's personal
dirccton, that the threatened crisis was avertedJall dhe
taisgivings as te the remeval ef the scat of Government
were sct at rest, and a new and more prosperous era has
dawned on the municipality.”

3
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GovernmeNT House avp SECRETARIAT,

Besides these genceral improvements, Sir Antony Mac-
Donncll’s administration wil always be associated with
the building of the present Government House and the
present Secretariat @fficcs. -

From 1879 to 1895, the residence of the Licutepant-
Governor (the third residence in peint of time since the
provincial Government Grst came to Naini Tal) had heen
situatcd on the tep of Sher-ka-danda tidge. In 189s, 1he
house was condemned 2s umsafe. Sherwoed, which is
stidl standing in th.e present Government House grounds,
was then chosen as 2 icnzporary habitation, and it re-
maiped the Lieutenant-Governor’s resilence until 19oo,
when the present Government House was completed and
occupied. Sherwood waus, in 18gs, inhabited by (he
Diocesan Boys' School, for which new quarters had,
therefore, o be provided. Accerdingly, Sir Antony as-
signed to the school the Sccretariat offices at Barnsdale,
the sitc where the present Sceretariat buildings alse stand.
But the school’s alyode there was short-lived, because on
April 6, 1896, the buildings were destroyed by fire. The
school then moved first to K hurpa Tal, which proved to
be unhealthy, and then o threc houses on Alma Hill,
and eventaally to i present habitation on Ayarpata Hill
at the beginning of 1899. The foundation stone of the
new building for the Diocesan Boys” School was laid in
June 8g7. The whole work was camied out by the
Public Works Department, togcther with the building of
the new Govermuent House, under the supervisien of
Mr. H. S, Wildcblood, Exccutive Enginecr.
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When Naini Tal first becamne the summer head-
quare:rs of Goverament, the Sccretariat stafl consivked of
a single secrctary, with vne or more assistants. There 15
no rccord of the offiee arrangements, but at one time
clerks worked in a house on the Mall. As the staff in-
creased, the Pavilion was occupicd; and at one tme
the Finance Departnent was lodged in Manor Flouse.
About 895, 2 move was made to Barnsdalc. Barnsdale
was originally the sitc of the Divcesan Girs™ Scheol,
untl it was moved  its present quarters on Avarpasa
Hill, the foundaton stonc of which was laid in 1893.
But when it becamne necessary a littie later to find accorn-
medation for the Diocesan Boys' School, which had been
moved from Shenwvood, the Sccretariat offices were
housed temporarily in the Deputy Commissioncr’s office.
In 1896, there occurred the fire at Barnsdale, which has
been alfeady mentioned; and the site was then taken
over, and the existing Secrevariat oflices were completed
in 1900 from desighs by Mr. Oericl, Public Works De-
partment. "Much of the stonc used was brought from the
old Gevernment House on Sher-ka-danda.

The commiltee of the Diocesan Boys' School had
been cxtremely unwilling to relinquish their attraciive
quarters at Sherwoed, and at onc tirc, Sir Anwny Mac-
Donncl! zabandoncd the idea of acquiting the Sherwood
estate for his new Government Tfouse. The difficulty of
finding a suimblc site for Goverament House, combined
with other causes, led him to consider seriously the
qucston of removing the sucamer head-quarters of Gov-
emment to Mussooric. The climase of Mussooric was
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belicved te be healthier than that of Naini Tal. In 846,
sites were acrually explored in Mussooric, but nonc was
found suitable. This failurc, combined with the [acts that
Naini Tal was casicr of access, and that the Government
of India had dccided to retain Naini Tal as the head-
quarters of the Bengal Army, resulted in the decision,
mcntioncd in the municipal address to Sir Antony, that
Naini Tal should be retained as the summer capisl,

Mitrrary HraD-@UARTERS.

Upon the abolition of the Presidency Armics in (8e5,
and the rcorganization of the Indian Army into four
commands (Punjab, Bengal, Madras and Bombay), Naini
Tal became the head-quarter's of the Bengal Command,
under a scrics of Licutenant-Generals, Sir William Elles,
K.CB., K.CM.G., Sir Baker Russcll, K.C.B,, Sir G.
Luck, K.C.B., and Sir Alfred Gasclee, K.CB. In 105,
during the knurc of Sir Alfred Gasclec, the four-com-
mand system was abolished by Lord Kirchener, and the
Indian Army was divided fnto three commands (North-
crn, Western and Eastern) and two independent divisions
(Burma and Sccundrabad). Naini Tal thus became the

/“ head-quarters of the Eastern Command.

This organization was, however, short-lived. At the
end of 1907 it was rcplaced by a new scheme of only two
armics, the Northern and the Southern Armies. Naini
Tal is shown during rgo7 and 1908 only as the temporary
head-quarters. ‘Therealter it ceased to be an army head-

f} quarters. It came within the territory of the Notthern
Amy, and was used as the sutnmer hcad-qll%ncrs of the
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cighth Ldcknew division. This arrangement lastcd until
1027 when the present four.command system was into-
duced. Naini Tal is now again the head-quarters of the
Eastern Command.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH ‘fiv. Prarns.

(‘The original road to Naini Tal entered the station -
through the Kaladhungi gorge. It came from Morad-
abad through Bazpur, Garapur, Kaladhungi, Dechauri
and past Kburpa Tal Latcr, however, the present road,
an cxtension of the Barcilly-Kathgodam road was con-
structed as far as the Brewery., The Brewery torminus
could be reached by tonga with three changes of ponics:
but {rom the” Brcwcry, travellers 100k the bridlepath w0
Naini Tal, and used cither ponies or dandics. In 1891, the
cart-road from the Brewery to Naini Tal was completed,
and, in 1893, wongas conveyed passengers to the edge of
the lake, but were found wo slow and expensive. The
road work was cariied out by Licutenant Ryder, R.E.,
under the orders of Mr. Holme, the District Jngineer.
In 1915, this portion of the road was aliered. Owing to
the Manora slip, which frequently caused scrious inter-
ruption to traffic, a passage was cut through the hill, and
the road diverted do the south side. The length of the
road betwcen Kathgodam and Naini Tal is 22 mjles.
The cost of 11s upkeep is about Rs. 29,000 a ycar.w"Thc i
ninth mile in particular gives wrouble during the monsoon
menths. ¥Foralong time, however, aftcr the construction
of the upper portion of the road, travellers from the
Brewery to Naini Tal centinued to use the bridle-path,
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the road being used mainly for goods waffic.§in 1915,
mowor cars began to run between Kathgodam and Naini.
Tal, and seon replaced the tonga service completely. )

Tire Roeeway ScUsme.

[.eng before the introduction of motor cars other
schemes werc nmwoted for the solution of the fransport
problem betwen Kathgodam and Naini Tal.(The Arst
was a scheme for consructing o wire ropeway between
the two places for the carmiage of goods, put forward by
2 Mr. Banna, a resident of Nzini Tal in May r887. By
the beginning of, 1888, the Naini T2l Ropeway Com-
pany, Limited, had been formed with Mr. Hanna as its
managing dircclor. The cost of censtructon was esu-
mated at Rs. 1,80;0ee, and the nct annual income at
Rs. 25,000. The Company asked for various concessions
from Gevernmentd Some of these, including that of a
postal] subsidy, were relused, but a right of way (whichv
involved the right to pass over the ground at a height of
not lcss than ten foet above the surface, measured from
the lowest point of the suspended load), a grant of land
up to tcn acres, and the usc of water {ree werc conceded.
Privac: land, where necded, and any private rights in
watcr werce to be acquired by the Company, and all water
utilized was to be returned to its course [or usc clsewhere.

( Three plots were assigned by the municipal board to the
Company, which was % pay a nominal cent of Re. 1 for
them, and a plot near the Brewery was alse purchascd
from Lala Durga Sah,a well-known banker,in Apnl
;890)
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Doubts arose, ere lon g,\ as 10 the ability of thc manag-
ing dircctor to carry out the scheme. In July 1890, two
of the dircctors informed the sharcholders of these
doubts. Mr. Hanna was then calied upon to produce
his dchnite proposals for the constiuction of the rope-
way. He asked for, and was granted time, in order to be
able to consult ceitain persons in England, but in the
meanwhile all funher werk was stopped. Still no
propesals wcre forthcoming, the reason being that
Mr. Hanna ‘had become mentally 1ncap1blc

“This was the death-blow to the scheme. The Gov-
ernment had given cvery help, but the public had lost
faith, and no one could be found to take up the fc;.lcr-
prisc.(fn Scptember 1891, die Company went inko
voluntacy liquidation. 1he land granted by Govemn-
ment was resumed. Some twepty years later there was
a faint attempt to revive the scheme. In Macch 1908, a
Mr. Shaw, writing {rom England, asked (hc municipal
board to verify certain statistics of the traffic betwen
Naini Tal and Kathgodam, and asked to put him inw
comraunication with some retired ::ngin . The board’s
reply was not, however, encouraging, and the matter

ended there
Tre Mourerary Rainway ScHEmE.

Another scheme was for a meuntain railway. A
proposal was made to Government, in 1889, by Colone
{(alterwards General) Thompson, R.E,, but it came to
notbing, as Government declined the project. Negou-
ations were revived and prelonged eventually until 18gs,
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when they came to an end, as the Government was not
willing to grant all the cencessions dcmandcd,i’l'hc rail-
way (or taaniway as it was originally named) ws to be
worked by clectricity gencrated by water-power. The use
of stzam-peswer and the rack system of construction were
buth considered, and found unpeacticable. The line was
to be about fourtcen miles long with a two and a half
foot gauge, Tn addition, there were to be three lifts on
the line, worked by water counter-balance. The eowrse: of
the Jine and the positien of the Jifts were decided, and a
map was prepared. The ordinary speed would be cighe
miles per hour, except over the Jifw, where it woukl be
four miles per hour. "I'he minimum carrying capacity per
dlay was to be 50 tons of goods, 30 upper class passengess
and 100 lower class, The watcr-power was ® be sup-
plicd, to a great cxtent, from the outlet of the lake, but
the premoter hxad a further plan for utilizing the water
from the lakes of Bhim Tal and Sat Tal, il nccessary.

Closely connccted wiih the railway preject was what
was known as thc Chirta grant. Chirta is an area of
forest of about four square milcs ousside the Naini Tal
settlement, through the border of which the proposcd
line would run when nearing Naini Tal. General
Thomason constantly asserted that the Chirta grant was
inseparable from the railway schemic. The forest there
was exhausted, aud the place was ideal, in the Geacral’s
epinien, “fer a cembination of a British sanatorium withk
factories, without onc injuring or interlering with the
other.” Chirta had ne water-supply. T'his [act was, hew-
ever, an argument in favour of counbining the two
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schemes. The lower lifw on the proposcd line svere
located at places where water was absolutely wanting, so
that a long dcad for the watcr to thesc poin% was un-
avoidable. This would cntail heavy expense. “Given
Clirta™, wrote the Generald, “a good deal of this difficulty
vanishes, because muc  of the cost might be made faicly
chargeablc, in the first instance, to Chirta forests, as pro-
wction against firc, and subscquenily to the Chirta scttle-
ment f{or water-supply.” His idca was to nwke Chirta
both a sctilernent and a manufacturing centre. “ T can
only compare”, he added, “the water-power, the railway,
and Cbirla to powdsr, shot and a capped gun, lying side
by sidc all perfectly uscless uatil combined; and, if I
may be allowod to carry the analogy still further, the per-
pe:tuation of Chirsa as a secve forest when it might be
doing duty as a charming settlement, scems Lo me much
the same thing as using the gun as a club.”

The mun'wipal board passed a resolution in 1895 to
the effcct that they had no objection to the comtrol of
the outlet of the lake by the vailway company, as General
Thomason proposed, subject to certain salcguards. But
the Government could not sce their way to granting all
the concessions required, and the scheme was abandonexl) ,

Watzr Surrry.

{ Of reccni improvement to the station, the most not-
able are the water supply and dectrie light. The water-
works were completed at the beginning of 1899, and
opened in Apil The watcr, oblained from various
springs, is pumped up to rwcscrvoiss on the hill-side by
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means of steam-powcr.yThe original capital cost of this
scheme was Rs. 2,47,000. It has subscquently been cx-
tended and improved.

HypRO-ELECIRIC SCHEMS.

{In 1919, thc question of a hydro-clectric scheme,
which had been discusscd from time to time, was taken
up dehnitely. The work was completed, and a regular
supply of clectricity was available from Scptember 1,
1922.§The capital cutlay was twenty-two lakhs. At the
same time, use was made ol the new clectric power for
pumping up the water-supply, and the old stcam plant
was thus displaced.}The new pumping plant is designed
to supply fiftcen gallons per head of daily population.
Therc is also an arrangement for filtering and chlorinat-
ing the lake watr when the supply from the spangs
becomes insufficient to meet the demand. Both the water
and the electric supplies are manayred by the municipal
board.

vl Oriciy of THE Lake.

The origin of the Naini Tal lake has, in common
with the ether lakes of Kumaun, been a subject of con-
troversy. There arc two main theorics, that it was ex-
cavated by glacial action, and that it was formed by a
landslsp. Mr. H. F. Blandford, writing in 1877, and
Mr. W, Theobald, writing in 1880, favoured the glacia]
thcory; whilst Dr. Bell, who cxam'med Naini Tal and
the surrounding lakes in 878, was unable to find any
proof of the glacial thoory, but suggested that the valley
+ had been dammed uip by landslip debris. ‘The question
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is still unsctded, und will probably remain so. Writing
after the landslip of 1880, Mr. R. D. Oldham {avoured,
although cautiously, the landslip theory. “It is not in-
conceivable”, he states, “that in some eascs which have
happened in that remote “past, of which wc have no
knowledge but what is writeen in the rocks, same few
barriicrs so made (i.c. by landslip) were able v sund and
form what .are known as the Kumaun lakes” This
theory receives some support from the formation of the
lacge Gohna lake in the Gachwal district by a landslip in

1893.
Dzscrirrion or mHE Laxe.

"fThc supcrﬁcml arca of the [ake is 120. 5 acres and its
perimcter is 3,900 yards. The grcntcst'lEngth is 1,567;
and the greatest breadth 5 rdsj I& maximum depth
is 93 fect, but'there is a uﬂgc running across the centre
of the lake where the depth is actually only 20 feet. The
surfact of the laKe is 6,350 fcet above sca-level. '

There is a Hindu legend regarding the formation of
the lake to the cffect that three Rishis (sages)—Atr,
Pulastya and Puliha~~—catae, in the course of a pilgrim-
age, to the summit of Cheeoa. Finding no water there,
they set to work to dig a large hole. This hole was
miraculously filled with water, said to have come from
Manasarovar, the sacred, lake_ of Tibet. The lake was,
thierefore, afterwards known as Teirishi-Sarovar (the lake
of the three Ristw's). The lake was later renatsed after
the goddess Nar y ni (or Naini) Devi. With this, is
connccted a Further legend. it is wld that the god
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Shiv's faiher-in-law, Himachal, made a sacrificc in
honour of the gods. He invited all, with the exception
of Shiv himself, and his own daughter Parbat, Shiv's
wife. Parbati, against Shiv’s advice, sccretly attended
and, firding that no offcring had been made 1o her hus-
hand, lcapt into the sacrifieral fire. Shiv then artived and
carried away the hall-burnt body of his wilc. @n the
way, her eyes dropped out at the place known to us as
“Smugglcer’s Rock™, and, forthwith, the goddess Nara-
yant sprang up. She is the presiding goddess of the lake,
aud is said to have resided in a cave near the rock, untit
shc descended inwo the lale. The rock, as any passer-by
will notice, is an object of great vencration to the Hindus.y
The lake, too, is considcred very holy, and this fact was,
it will be remembered, suggested by Mr. Batron as onc
of the contributory causes to its conccaliment from the
Europcan. There is a saying that évbmnc person
is drowned in the lake-—the annual tof| lcvicd by the
goddess Narayani,

Tur Seven Hivts.

Naini Tal lake is surrounded by seven hills, known as
Avatpata (7,689 feer), Deopata (7,989 feer), Handi Bandi
(7,153 fcet), Checna (8,568 feet), Alma (7,98¢ fect), Liria
Kanta (8,144 fect), and Shet-ka-danda (4,869 feet). Of
these, Ayarpata is so called from the ayar trec (Andro-
meda owalifelia), and Handi Bandi, or Hani Bany, from
the echo (or devil’s laughter) which can be beard there.
Sher-ka-danda raeaus the tiger’s ridge, and Lisfia Kanta
is said to have been named after some forgotten gaddess.
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To chmb the seven hills in one day is a feat which has
been repeatedly performed, but it should be attempted
only by thosc who are physically fit.

Tuc Snewy Raner,

The best view of the famous Himalayas, as might
be expected,is obtainable from Cheena Hill. It will
sufficc here to quox a passage from Mr. Atkinson’s
Gazetweer. Part of his description is taken from a paper,
contributed to the Journal of the Bengal Astatic Socncty
in May 1848, by Major Madden, 1engal Artillery. It is
from a description of his journey in the “Turace and
othcr mountains of Kumaun”in the cold weather of
1846-47, and gives an intcresting account of his impres-
sions of Naini Tal five ycars alter its discovery:—

“The view [rom Cheena embraccs Rohilkhand,
Kumaun, Garhwal and the snowy ranges from the
seurces of the Jumna to these of the Kali The great
Himachal must be about 65 miles distant in a siraight
line; its details are, thercfore, lvs distinet than from
RBinsar and Almora, wlere the superior limit of {orest is
perfectly defined—much more so ihan the snow-line—-
and above which the eye reposes with a never-tobe-satr-
ated curiosity on the enormous shelving masses of rock
and snow which appear as i[ they would squeeze mother
carth to a mumuay. Here we have she Gangotri group
running apparcatly north, with sloping and apparently
stratificd plancs to the cast; then comes the great I{edar-
nath mass, said to be the original Sumeru, whence Shiva

Ve

regards with jealous rivalry his acighbour Vishnu, who
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dwells over the way in, the still grander mass of Badri-
nath, or rather on the Nali Kanza peak abeve the temple.
Next come Trisul, 2bowt 20 miles more o the south-
cast, and behind this again Nanda Devi, with its pyra-
midal grey peak rising to 25,660 fect. Next come Nand-
ket with the tent-shaped peak which is supposed to form
the pillow of the katrya or cot on which Sita reclines.
Further cast are the Panch Chula or five cooking places
used by tlic Pandavas, and then come the peaks of Api
and Nunjang in Nepal, and its other unnamed moun-
tamns. ‘Though, perhaps, not so clear or distinct a view
as is obtained from the hills nearer the snowy range, 1t
is undoubtedly the most comprehensive and tmpressive
in the whole outer range.”

The panorama viav shown oppesiie this page was
taken from the terrace of Ratan Kothi near the big water
tanks behind the housc on Alma known as Falrllglll
Hall, or Tonnochy’s. But it is very sitmilar to the view
obtaiped from any point on the top of the ridge to the
nortl: of the lalce. On the top of Checna has recently been
built an indicator bascd on the same panorama view.
The key to the panorama (afwr page 44) indicates the
principal peaks. A little west of Naki Nanta, just outside
the key, smnds the large snowy mass of Chaukhamba
(often called Badrirath) with four peaks set at the cor-
ners of the square, all exceeding 21,000 fect in herght.
Further west still are the towerng precipices, half bare
of snow, callcd the Bhartc-Khanta peaks which rise
tromedsatcly behind the temple of Kedamath and
scparaw it from Gangotri and thc sources of the Ganges.



HISTORICAL AND DESCRIPTIVE ACCOUNT 4

These ate the peaks alluded to as the “great Kedarnath
mass’” in the description quated from the Gazetteer, Sull
further west rises Bandar punch (30,731 fect), its summit
a sheer precipice of pinkish rock (which has, perhaps,
given it its name, the monkey’s tail). Most remote of all
is the sharp peak of Srikanta ncar the sources of the
Jamna.

At the other end of the key and just heyond 1t rises
te striking mass of the Panch Chula (22,66r feet), a
perfect pyramid of snew flauked by four smaller peaks.
About ten degrees cast of this mountain the snowy range
cnters Nepal, whete most of the peaks arc unmcasured
and unnamed.

RAINFALL. -

The rains in Naini Tal are very hcavy. Records of
the anmual rainfall arc available {rom 18g95. The annual
average is 97.04 inches. The heaviest rainfall recorded
was in the year 1970, when it amounted to 150,91 inches,
while the lightest was in the ycar 1907, when only 38.99
wnches {cll. In August 1898, forty inches of rain fell in
onc week;and in August 1go1, twenty-hve inches fell in
96 hours. The heaviest rainfall recorded in 24 hours
occurred oa September 18, 1927, when 16.05 inches fell.
but in 1401 therc was a fall of 1434 inchies, and in 1924
and 7926 falls of 13 inches.

i

— 2
PopULATION,

At the census taken in March 1921, the total popula-

tion of Naini Tal was 11,230, Of this nuinber 8,666 were

Hindus, 1,085 were Muslims and the remaining 3,469
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arc classed as “others.” But uhe population tluctuates
considcrably according to the season of the year. The
figures given are a record only of the permancnt popu-
lation. At the hetght of the scason the tosel riscs to over
16,000,

There arc 396 houscs in the cival station, z9e in the
M:dli Tal bazar, and 279 in the Talli Tal bazar. Owing
to the physical configuration of the site, the cangestion .
in both bazars but cspecially tn Talli Tal, is very great.

Trs Muwnicnat Boasp.

The monicipal beard of Naini "T'al had its orig/n in
the year 1845. In this ycar the intvoduction of thc provi-
sions of Act X of 1842 were sanctioned by Govecnment
on the application of more than two-thirds of the housc.
holders in Naum Tal, and the first committee consisted
of Majac-General Sir W. Richards, K.C.B., Mr. Lushing-
ton, C.S. (thc Commissioncr), Major H. H. Arnaud,
Captain W, P, Waugh and Mr. Barron, who were nom-
inated members.

Th¢ munictpal berd has, in common with all joeal
bodies, undergonc changes since then, both in functions
and compesition. It now consists of threc ex-efficro
members, including the Deputy Commisstoner, who s
ex-efficio chairman, threc nominated menbers, and six
elected membess. The income of the board fer the
year 1924-25 was threc lakhs, excluding the hydro-electric
receipts and Government grants.
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Tur Scroors.

Thete are several schools. The Diocesan Boys’ Scheol
was founded in 1869 by Bishop Milman of Calcutta. The
original site was at Stoneleigh, where now the Ramsay
Hospital stands. In 1873, the school was transferred to
Sherivood. Its subsequent history has been described in
connexton with Sir Antony MacDonncll’s building
schemes. The present number of students is 134.

Philander Smith Colfege is the result of the amalga-
mation of the Oak Openings Boys’ High School, Naini
Tal, and the Philandcr Smith Insti'tute of Musscor1'c. The
tatter was founded by a Mrs. Smith, widow of Mr. TPhi-
lander Smith of Hlinois. Her merest in the cducation of
the Anglo-Indian and down’ciled European community
had been awakened through the influenice of the Rev-
crend Davis Osborne of the Mcthodi'st Episcopal Church,
who opened the school in 1885, Oak Openings School
was opened by the Reverend J .W. Waugh, D.D., of the
Methodist Episcopal Church, in 1880 at Stonelcigh,
which, since its cvacuati'on by the Diocesan Boys’ Schooj,
had been occupicd by the Licuteaant-Governor. It moved
to its present site in 1889., In 1965, took place the unien
with the school at Mussoorle, which had outgrown the
accommodation tbere. The number of students, which
was then under 100, has now grown to over 250.

St. Joseph's College is a schaol for the Roman
Catholic diocese of Allahabad. An account of iw arrival
in 1888 from Darjecling has already been given, The
present uumber of students is 302.

4
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There are three European and Anglo-Indian schools
for girls. The All Saints” Diocesan Girls' School was
feunded at thc same time as the Diocesan Boys’ School,
and the two constituted one cstablishment. When, how-
ever, the boys moved to Sherwood, 2 scparatien took
place, and the girls went to Petersficld until 1874, when
they moved to Barnsdale. The history of their subscquent
move has already been given. The present number of
pupiis is nearly 150.

St. Mary’s Convent was founded in 1878 by the
Reverend Mother Salesia. It is now situated at Ramnce
Park, and the present number of pupils is 2e0. The
Wellesley Girls’ Scheol on Ayarpaw is an American in-
stitation, and numbcrs nearly 150 pupils.

Of Indian schools there are, for boys, the Govern-
ment High School, with 264 pupils; the Humphrey High
School, with 226 pupils; the Municipal Primary School,
with 214 pupils; and thc Diamond Jubilee Branch School,
with 106 pupils.

For gitls, therc are the Model Girls' Scheol, with 108

pupils; the Mission Zanana Girls’ School, with branches

at Malli Tal and Talli Tal, having 38 and 78 pupils res-
pecuvely; and the Bhawani Kanya Pathshala School,

with 75 pupils,

There is also a mixed school at Balguiiya for the
depressed classes, with an attendance of 20;and the
Himalayan School for American children, with 60 scho-
lars.
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Tae Nawua Tar A. D. S.

The account which fellows of drmatic art in Naini
‘Fal has been furnished by onc who has himself *played
many parts.”

The drama has many homes in the Himalayas. If
Simla is the greatest, Naini Tal likes te beheve itsclf
net much behind. ‘e enly stage available in Nani Tal
all 2921 was the one in thc Asscmbly Roems. Execpt
the stages in the “one-horse™ American tewn, described
by Mark Twain, or those in the barns of English vil-
lages, it was possibly the werst stage in the werld. It
had almost cvery defect that a stage can pesscss. It was
toe small, and toe deep for its breadth: the wing spracc
was cranged; the scenery and the method of fixing it
were psmitive. The lighting consisted of oil lamps,
save when some enterprising stagemanager bomowed
thc municipal stceet lamips, or (as happcned on twe
occasions) an electric plant. The auditorzum was badly
shaped; the dressing-room accommedation inadequate
and almost insanitary, Yet,on that swge, were pro-
duced such plays as “The Wildeeness” (1910), a Drury
Lanc melodrama; “The Three Little Maids” (1911), a
rousical comedy of the Gaety type; *“The Arcadians”
(1913), which rcquires the introduction of an acroplane
and a racchersc; and “lolanthe” (1916), with the eut-
sidc of Weswninster Hall for one of its scenes.

In 19ar, the Club carried out a preject which its

commitice had Jong beea considering, and built a stage
on to the Chalet ball-room. Since then, the local actor
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has had small cause for complaint. The stage is large,
wwell lighted, well sloped. The system ol scting the
scencry is simple and rclatively modern. There is ade-
quatc space everywhere; and the dressing-room acconr-
modation, though not perfect, is far better than mn the
rDld Assembly Rooms, and has recently (1928) been cx-
jtended. @nc of the few professional troupcs that have
visited Naini Tal in recent years, described it as the best
'stage in northern India outside Culcutta and Bombay.

As usual in Inda, the petformers have ncarly always
been amatceurs, [or the professional in that country is
always a bird o passage, who rarcly visits Naini Yal
by reason of the cxpensce involved in transporting many
tons of scenery, properties, and dresses up 2z mlics of
hill read.

Onc curious (caturc ul Naini Tal theatrical history
is the abscnc, till rcoent ycars, of any dramatic socicty.
ﬁ‘ il 1912, the Naini Tal public depended for their plays
entrrcly on the eoterprise of individeals, of whom, how-
ever, the supply ncver scemed to fail In sor2, ap
ADS. was formed, but its life, though merry, was
short, for it died in 1913 of debt,s During the war period,
a commitlce was [ormed, known as the Naim Tal War
Entertainments Committee which, amongst othcr activi-
t'w, praduced many goed plays, the proceeds of which,
of course, went to wac chavitics. Jt lingered on, with the
word “war” cut out of its titlchtill 1923, when it came
to an end on the formation of the present AB.S.S

The new A.B.S. is merely an adjunct of the Club,
which bears all cxpenscs and, after devoting 5 per cent.
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of the gress procceds to charity, takes all receipts. The
ABDS. is managed by a sub.committee;its incmbers
have each their alloted task—business-manager, stage-
manager, producer and so forth-—and they work bard
at their tasks. In 1924 and 1926, they produced five
plays, four “straight”, and one musical comedy. In
1925, they only staged three preductions, ene of which
was ag.iin a musica} cotnedy. One of the causcs of the
success of the A.D.S. is that they are not so much
cramped as their predeccssors by financial considerations,
and can, therefere, spend more money on. their pro-
ductions. The last comedy which they produced in
1926, “The Dover Road”, was staged in a manner
which the Pioneer described as worthy of any London
house.

Naini Tal has always becn famous for its musical
playst In early days, these vsually tosk the form of a
burlesque, full of wpical allusions; the dialoguc and the
songs of thesc burlesques were original, while the music
was generally that of the popular airs of the day. The
fast of these burlesques was produced in rgoy. 1t was
cntitled “ Faustus, I.C.S.”, and was written by two mem-
bers of that service (who ought to have known better).
“Faustus” was the Deputy Commissioner of Namu Tal;
Valentine, a Colonel in the Indian Army with the ectho-
dox liver and «cmpcr; Mephistopheles was a plagiarism
from John Wellingten Wells in the “Sorceser’” (amongst
other titles, he was described as “‘agent to the under-
ground™); whilst Wagner was a German globe-trotting
count. Of the women, Matguerite and Siebef (who was
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turned into a girl for the eccasion) were the usual Leat:
house damscls; whilse Martha was described on the pro-
gramtne as “geaus, felis montanus; specics, widow.”
The first scene was Laid in the boat-hwouse, the sceend in
the Chalet. 1t is recorded that the Licutenant-Governor
of the time, having witnessed the play, said that he had
uot previously realized how little work an Under-Secre-
tary to Governoent and a Secrctuy of the Board ol
Revenue had te de.

Ol recent years, Naini Tal has wade a speciality of
the Gilbert and Sullivan eperas. “H.M.S. ‘Pinafore’ "
was performed carly in the presamt century, whilst
“{olanthc’ was swged in 1916. Since 1922, there has been
a reguar succession of these operas. “lolanthe”, for the
sccend time in 1922; “Paticnce”, in 1923; “The Yeemen
of the Guard”, in 1924; “The Mikado”, in 1e25; and
“The Pirates of Pcnzance”, in 1926; and in 1927, “The
Gondoliers.” Though occasionally wged to desent
Gilbert and Stllivan, the A.D.S. will probably complete
the cycle. Of straight comedies, the {ast that the wiiter
can recall is “The Passport”, which was preduccd abeut
1906, and revived in 1gry. Other pre-war plays were
“Lady Frederick”, “The Wilderness”, Pincro’s “Ama-
zons”, “The Duke of Killiecrankie”, “fack Suaw”,
and “Cousin Kaw.” Somc ef the plays produced
under the augpices of the Naini Tal War Enlertain-
ments Committec were Pinero’s “Gay ferd Quess”
(the perfoemance of which caused some searchings of
heare tn Naini Tal socicty); “The Passport™ (for a second
time), “Belinda” (which was the first play staged in the
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Club theatrc); “The Circle” and “Penclope.” In 1923,
were produced “The Marriage of Kitty”, "Her Hus-
band’s Wife” and “Gencral Post.”” The plays procuced
under the management of the Club A.D.S. have becen:
in 1924, “Dcar Brutus”, “Billy’s Little Leve Affair”,
“Billctted” and *Tilly of Bloomsbury”, with a triple
bill of one-act plays. In 1925, “All of a Sudden Peggy”,
with a triplc bill; anc! in 1926, “The Impornce of Being
Earncst”, “To Have The Honour”, “Thc Laughing
Lady” and “The Dover Road.” Of all thesc, perhaps,
the last was tbe greatcst success that Naini Tal has cver
sen.

Out of the many who have acted on the Naini Tal
slage it 15, pcerhaps, invidious to sclect names. Thesc whe
remcmber her, will agrec that the finest actress Narni
Tal has cver seen was Mrs, Jesse (in “The Wildemess”,
“Lady Frederick”, “The Passport” and many other
plays). Othicrs, who rank not much behind her arc
Mrs, Coffin, a well-known producer of the early years of
the century, Miss Seymour (subscquently Mrs. Graham),
Mrs. Thackwell; and, in later ycars, Mrs. Mackenzie,
Miss Davics (now Mrs. Swinton—who, in onc year,
achieved a conspicuous success in thrce heavy parts,
namcly, Margaret in “Dear Brutus”, the name-part in
“Tilly of Bloosusbury”, and Elsie Maynard in “The
Yeomen of the Guard”); Mrs. Peck, Mrs. Cave, Miss
Dunn (new Mrs. Moore) (whose greawst success has been
in the part of Ann in “The Dover Road”); and Mrs.
Crosthwaitc,—though her chicf famc lies in musical
comedy. Of the incn, Major Patterson, Major Gilbert
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Cooper, Mr. Oliphant, Mr. Northcotc, Mr. Shore, all
played tany parts before and just after the war. Since
that date, the names best remcmbered arc Majors Simp-
son, Pauison, Clarkc, Kcndrick, Fletcher and Vickers,
Mr. Woods, Captain Stevens, and Colone] Frost. In
musical comedy, the est known names arc, first and
{oremost, Mrs. Crosthwaite (Pbyllis in “lolanthe”, the
namme-part in “Patence”, and Mabel in “The Pirates
of Penzancc”™); Mrs. Raw (the Queen in “Iolanthe™);
Miss Harris, subsoquently Mrs. Cookson (the naumc-
part in “Iolanthc™); Miss Davics (alrcady mecntioncd);
Mrs. Owen (Yum Yum in “The Mikado™), Mrs. Priest
(Phebe in “The Ycomen of the Guard” and Katisha
in “The Mikado™), and Mrs. Aird Davis (Jane in
“Paticnce’”). Of the men, Major Fanshawe (in “The
Arcadians™), Mr. Robert Anderson (who has taken
a part in cvery musical comedy produced in Naini
Tal suce 18gs, cxcept for a couple of years during the
war), and more recently Major Dann (Nankipoo in
“The Mikado” and the Pirate King in “The Piratcs of
Pcnzance”) swnd high above all others. And of these,
Mr. Andcrson stands casily first. In fact, a musical
somedy in Naini Tal without the last-named geatleman,
would be very much like a Gaiety production without
the younger George Grossmith.

TrRE Namnt TaL Yacur Crus.

The carliest records of sailing on the Naini Tal lakc
+ date back to 1880, when thc yachts sailed were of the
cutier type with lead kecls. About this timc Mr. Fleet-
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wood Williams, 1.C.S., Commissioner of Meerut, built
a schooner yacht at St. Asaphs (now Oak Ridgc) and
launched it on the lake by mcans of a trolicy. A twin-
hulled boat “Gemini” was also built and sailed by
Colonel Henry, whilst Messrs, Murray and Company
importcd three Belfast Lough type sailing boats, called
“Coya”, “Doodlcs” and “Dorothy” and let them out on
hirc for several years. .

The Naini Tal Sailing Club was startcd in 18g7
The typc of vessel used was the skimming dish or
“Socceress” type. The well-known “Wave” (Dee built)
was of thi's class, and held her own for many years, being
onc of the last of the old type to disappear. Several
yachts such as “Spray” and “Sheila” were locally built to
compete with her, without much success.

In xgro, the Naini Tal Yacht Club was fermed on
thc initiative of the brothers Carey, C. W. Carey, a
Major in The Guides,and F. Carey, a Captain in the
Royal Ardllery, who introduced the present “one-
design™ class, which gradually ousked the yachts of older
type until there are none now in existence. The
N.T.Y.C. has a fAeet of nine yachts designed by Linion
Hope and built by Turks & Co., of Ringston-on-Thames.
Itis aftiliated to the Yacht Racing Asseciation, and hus a
membership of some 250 who are scattercd all over Ind1a.

The cups sailcd for Juring the season are:—

(r) The Baker Russcll Challenge Cup, presented by
the laee General Sir Baker Russell, G.C.B,, in 1348, This
is a three days’ handicap race.
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2) The Benares Challenge Cup, presenicd by the
Kunwar Sahib of Benares in 1910, A two days’ level
race.

(3) The ®nc Design Points Cup, presented by the
laic Major F. Carcy, R-A,, in 1910,

(4} The Open Handicap Points Cup, presented by
the founder members of the N.T.Y.C,, in reze. Both
these point cups are raced for throughout the scasen on
altermate days, and the cups arc won by the yacht with
the lowest total of poins in proportion to numbcr ef
starts.

(5) The lady Leslic Porwer Challenge Cup, present-
ed in 1011. A one day handicap cup.

(6) The InterClub Challenge Trophy, presented by
the Honsle Sir James (now Lord) Meston, K.C.S.L,
Commodere of the N.-T.Y.C. and the Sailing Cemmittce
of the Royal Bembay Yacht Club, in 1912, Sailed for
by represenative crews of the R.B.Y.C. and NT.Y.C.
The competition consists of two matches of three races
cach, the first match sailed at Naini Tal in September,
and the second in Bombay in March. Up ta the present
the N.-T.Y.C. has ncver lost the trophy.

(7) The All-India Challenge Cup, prescated by His
Highness the Nawab of Rampur in 1913, open to any
yacht or sailing club in India. The cempetition consists
of two days’ racing to be sailed at Naini Tal. The
N.T.Y.C. has alss managed to rctain this traphy without
being beaten.
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(8) The Ladies’ Challenge Cup, prescnted by the
N.T.Y.C. in 1923, sailed for in onc day’s racing by ladies
who have sailed during the scason.

(9) The Helmsman’s Challenge Cup, presented by
Mr. W. F. Brandford in 1924, sailed for throughout the
scason and won by the helmsman who has the lowest
aggregate of points.

The ordinary course for all races is three times
round the lake, round four buoys, The record time for
the three rounds is 53 03" and was established by “San
Toy”, sailed by Mr. Wise on May 2, 1912.

The following have been Commodores since the
sert of the N.T.Y.C.: —

1910—I1g12 ... Colonel H. N. Thompson,
D.S.0.

1913—1917 ... H. H. Sir James Meston.

19181922 ... H. E. Sir Harcourt Buder.

1923—192% ... H. E. Sir William Mariis.

The Vice-Commodore (for life) is Lieutenant.Colo-

nel C. W, Carcy.

THE SeasoN.

Naini T'af remains the head-quartcrs of Governinent
from the middle of April unti] about the middie ot
October. Duriny this time, social activites are at their
height in the “Ran‘tkhet week”, at the end of May or
beginning of June, and again in the “Autump Week”,
ar the cnd of Sepwember er beginning of October. Thesc
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attract many cxtra visitors from the plains and {rom
other hill statrons. During cach week a polo tournament
is played on the Flats, and other matches at tennis, golf,
squash-rackets and billiards arc also played, iu June,
between teams representing Naini Tal and Ranikhet
and, in Scptenber, usually between the I.C.S. and the
Rest. Buring the latter week a regaw, in winch the
Rampur Fours s the chief event, 1 also helct.



CHAPTER Ii
FLORA ®F NAINI TAL.

S NE of the frst points which strike a visitor to
Y these hills is the comparative absence of
% forest on soutlcrn slopes, duc to the dessicat-
mg ctfect of a sub-ttopical sun. The result 1 that on
south aspects are found inainly grassy slopes, some-
times more of less clad with brushwood or scattcred
trees, whilst on north aspects, {orest predominates. The
vegctation may be classified into scveral broad types,
based mainly on variations in altitade, and cach type
has, to some extent, its owa peculiar plants. The exist-
ence of such difierent types of rocks as limestonc and
shalc also adds considerably to the 1ichness of the flora.

We may begin with a bricf consideration of the
principal vegewtive types. On southern aspecs, except
on stcep shaly slopes where the seil is usuaily bare, the
commonest type is grassland with or without scattered
teces and shrubs. These grassy slopes are rich in herbs
of many kinds, most of which fower during the rains.
In fact the herbs and grasses mostly die down frem
Octoher to May, and thus give nse to the prevailing
brown colouration, so character'istic during these months.
On the southern slopes of Cheena, which arc se sur-
rounded on all sides by oak forest and bare rocky slopes
as to be comparatively safc from the ravages of fire may
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be notcd the cypress. This magnificent and valuabic
conifer cannot cxist where fires are frequent and this is
one reason why its occurrence is so scatiered and patchy
throughout the neighbouring hills. There is, in fact, no
other naiural cypress within a distance of several
marches, Asseciaved with the cypress arc a number of
very common shrubs, amongst which may be mentioned
Denizia staminea, indigofera Cerardiana, viburnam
cornifoliuwm, lepiodermis  lanceolate, Colguhounia
coccinea and jasminsm  hamile, whilst the bcautful
tasminum officinale is also common in such surround
ings. The two jessamines mentioned ate the only two
found clese to Naini Tal. The former which is a shrub,
has yellow unscented Aowers whilst the Jatter, which js
a climber, bas scented whiwe fowers tinged with pink.
Deuizia, indigofera and virbsrsum Aower about Moy
before the rain set in; the pretty white flowers of the
first axe very like those of dentzias grown in gardens
in England, whilst z/burnym is at once rccognized by
the conspicuous whitc woolly under-surface of the leaves,
‘Leptodermis flowers during the vains, and ik fowers,
which are crcamy white when they [irst open, usually
turn purple before falling. Celguhounia is noteworthy
beaause, though common on the Checna slopes, it is
not again found till you reach the main Badimath-
Trisul vange. The rather conspicuous red, vrange, and
ycllow Howers appear just at the end of the rains.

We will now pass on to those {erest types which lic
on the moister north and north-west aspects, and we
shall consider only thoe which lie abeve the zone of
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the ckir pinc. They arc mainly compesed of three very
gregarious specics of oak, each of which occupics a
morc or less distinct altitudinal zone. That which occu-
pies the highest altitudes is the karshu (quercus seme-
carpifolia) At Naini Tal it is only {ound above about
8,000 fcet clevation round the summit of Checna, though
on the inner hill ranges it forms extensive forests.
Perhaps the most characterist'c feature about these forests
1s the manncr in which the trees arc draped from top
to bottom in a clothing of mess and fezns. This epiphy-
tic Aora bursts into lifc with the advent of the first
monseon showers, and thercafter rapidly completes its
rcproductive funclions. Directly the monsoon begins
w0 fail, there is a rapid fall in the humidity of the air,
and thcse plans commence to diy up; se that by the
beginning of October they have usually withercd away,
only to burst forth oncc more on the re-appearanec of
thec monsoon. The absence of orchids amongst this rich
epiphytic flora is a point to be notised, since such orchids
are comparatively comunon at lower clevations. Though
cpiphytic ferns and mosses arc most abundant in the
karshu forests, they are also characteristic of the other
types of oak in a somewhat modified degrec. The §arshu
has an extraordinary acors, the size of a horsc chestnut,
which ripens in July and germinatkes immediately on
falling. It is in the arshu forcsts that we chicfly find
that beautiful pink rosc (rosa macrophylla) which
flowers just before or at the commencement of the rains;
and at about the same time the shrub sprtaca canescens
produces its pretty sprays of small white flowers. The
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latter is [ound on the summit of Cheena and elsewhere,
but gencrally owside dre forcst itsell. Before leaving
the karshn forcst, mention must be made of scnecio
rigfineross, a perennial herb from two to three feet high
which forms a dense undergrowih to the exclusion of
most other plants. 1t is casily rccognized by the white
under-surface to the leaves, and by the yellow fiowers
which appear seon after the rains have ceased.

The next type of oak forest is chicfly composed of
moris of telunj (quercus dilateta). This oak is found
between 7,080 and 8,000 {ect clevation, and clothes the
summits of Ayarpata, Deopata and Liria Kanta. It
often forms very dense (orest, and contributes mote than
any other species towards the maintenance of Naini
Tal {uel supply. The climatic conditions in this forest
zonc arc not far removed from those pereesning in
Europe, and hence we are not surprised to find in the
former a number of common broad-dcaved trees with
closc affinities to some that arc well known in England.
For instance, the birch (Jetula alnordes), the horn-
beam (carpinus viminea), the ash (fraxinms micrantha),
the llex (ilex diprena) and five species of maple. A
fine old hoilow maplc, about filteen feet in girth, may
be stcn between the tennis court belonging 10 Eversley
and the road. The ilex is, of course, no relation to the
holm oak (guercus ilex) which is often grown in gardens
in the south of England. It is in reality a species of
holly, and the fruit and lesves arc sufhciently similar
o those of its English cousin for them to be used at
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Chsistmas according to time-honourcd custom. A com-
mon ringal (arundmaria folcata) deserves mention.
There ate scvcral other species of ringal found in the
hills, but ¢his is the only specics found at Naini Tl
An interesting fact about these ringals is thar they only
fAower at intervals of a number of years: mareoves, all
thc plans in a given forest Aower the same ycar and
then dic. Within the staton arca the morr oak is
seriously atwmcked by a specics of mistlctoe (foranthus
vestizns), in {act some trees appear % be more loranthus
than oak. The sccds of this parasite are spread by birds
(chiclly onc ol the flower-peckers) which deposit the
seeds an the bark of the branches. The young root ef
the scedling naturally finds access to the branch casier
tiwough a4 wound in the bark than when the bark is
intact; but the oaks within the station arc censtantly
being lopped by mischicvous coolics for fucl, and hence
the abnormal local abundance of rhis parasiee. The un-
dergrowth i moru {orests is usually dense and is com-
poscd of many vigorous herbaceous species besides
shrubs. Only one or two of the more conspicuous will
be mentioned. First, hedychium acuminatum, a peen-
nial herb from two to three feet high, with large coarse
leaves which turn yellow in the autuma, and fragrant
pale ycllow Aowers. This is a common plant, and in
October the bright red lining w0 (hc fruiwfis very
conspicuous. It is locally known as Aaldra and a yellow
dye is exiracted from the roots. Second, polygonim
amplexicaule, which forms dense masses of herbaceous
undergrowth [rom two to three feet high, and produces
5
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very pretty spikes of bright pink or red flowers during
the latter half of the rains. Lastly should be mentioned
four species of szropilanthe<; which are abundant and
very noticcable whilst in flower. They are all partly
shrubby and partly herbaceons and have blue tubular
Bowers frem onc % two inches long. Three of them
flower from August to October; the {ourth, strebilanthes
glutinosus, flowers from Peocmber te March, and s
merc cemmenly found at lower ¢levavons in bang
forest.

Onc more type of oak forest remains to be con-
sidered. This is the bavwj (quercus incana) type, which
is found mainly between 5,600 and 7,000 fect eevation.
The bauj is casily distinguished from the other two by
the whix under-surface to the leaf. It is intercsting to
noke that though the timber of this oak is quite suishle
for building houses, it is scldom used by hill people
because therc is a local superstition that the inmates of
the house constructed of banj oalk will be childless; in
fact the name bdany cenveys this idca. Both the danj
and mors bear acorns very similar to those of the
English eak. As in mern forest we found scveral trees
closely atlied to English specics, so in banj forests we
find an aldcr growing mainly along the banles of strcams,
But the fwo commuonest trecs in these forcsts are rhodo-
dendron and ayar. The former is vety conspicuous when
in flower during Aprl. The fatser has small white
bell-shaped flowers, and is well known on account of
the poisonous properices of the foliage, espedally when
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young. The hill Ayarpata takes its name from this
trec.

Each of the forest types has now been briefly re-
viewed. It only remains v mention the fact that during
the last forty ycars the Forest Department have in-
ttoduced a number of trees which do not occur here
naturatly. The principal arc dcodar, blue pine, walnut,
horse-chest nut and poplar. Al have been introduced on
account of their valuable tinbers cxecpt poplar which,
though of litcle valuc as a timber trce,is a very useful
speares for afforesting landslips on which little else will
grow. It is noteworthy that no sprucc ar silver fir is
found growing naturally ncar Naini Tal, though the
lateer occurs some twenty miles further east at Deothal
and both are [ound along the maiwe Himalayan range.

Wec will now briey consider some of the more -
striking wild flowers. Most people who are interested
in flowers will posscss or have access to Collett’s Flora |
Simlensis, in which nearly all the plants here menuoned
are described, and in such cases it will, therefore, be
sufficient to give the name with any facts of local intcrest.
It will Be convenient to consider the plants mose or less
in the erder in which they flower. Clematis monzena,
with its showy whitc flowers, is first secn wwards the
end of March. This is the only clematis flowering 1n
Naini Tal at this scason, and it is common all over the
sition. Two plank with pretty biue flowers which
begin to fower in Apiil arc salvia lapar and delphs-
nium denudatum. The salviais corunon on open rocky
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and grassy limestonc slepes; when flowering iis ieaves
are small and inconspicuous, but during the rains they
grow te their {ull dinensions. The delphinium is usually
found in bany forest. The flewers of morina persica,
gerbere lanuginosa and  androsace (anuginoca st
appear in May, und all three are common on steep rocky
around and opcn grassy slopes. The prickly leaves of
morzna much resecmble thosc of a tlustle. Gerdera
lanuginosa, tocally known as Kapds, posscsses @ white
cottony down whicl: 1s stu'pped dusing the rains from
tlie uadecsurface of the leaves and woven into cloth.

The rains arc now about to break, and, as if m antzci-
patien, the number and varicty of Howers increases daily.
The most beautiful and conspicuous of these is Llinm
ncpalense, which prows between 7,000 and 8,800 fect
clevation, but is local and scarce. The stems arc frem two
to three fect ugh, and produce scented drooping {lowers
from four Lo {wve inches long. The outside of the {lower
is greenish at the base, passing into orange yellow above
and spetted with purple on the lower half of the recurved
portion of the scgments. This lity is ofwen brought into
Naini Tal by malis. Another and far commoner plant
which flowers at this season 1s ophiepogon intermedium,
often wrongly referred to as the lily of the valley. In
the higher oak forests will be found the pretty eguilegia
pubiflora, recognizable at once by the shage of its flowers
as a columbine. Several species of arisacma alse produce
thetr quaint flowers about this time, and those who
recollect the commen Lords and Ladics of our English
woods will recognize tlicsc plaats as closcly related.
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A visit to the top of Checna and a short search on the
rather open castern slopes will reveal a number of small
yellow pansics known te the botanist as viola bifiora.

Let us now consider those plans which begin to
flower when the rains are 2lready in {ull vigour a2nd are
at their hmght of flowering during July and August.
These arc: chirita bifolia, begonia amoena, platystemma
vwloides, potentilla nepalensis, hebenwrra intcrmedia,
satyripmn  nepalense and rescoew procera. Chivita is
common on banks in dany forest below 6,000 fcet eleva-
tion, and the large brightly coloured blue Aawers are
not unlike the numcrous spectes of gloxinmu with which
we arc famihiar in geeen-houses at home. The begonia
has pink flowers an inch or less acress and is fairly
cornmon en stecp banks and rocks in sheltered places.
Platystemma is found on shady most rocks beth in and
around Nauni Tal, and its beautiful pucple flowers bear
an unmistakeable resemblance to the cultivated violet,
The fine dark-crimson flowers of the potensilia are to be
seen in plenty on all the hill tops, but especially on the
open grassy top of Cheena. The Aabeuaria is abundant
en all grassy slopes in and round Naini Tl above 6,800
[cet. Its flowers are large and grecmsh-white, Sasyrium
is geaerally cemmon and grows in sivailar places, but
the flowers are pink and sweet-scented, and the sngle
spur which charnctnizes all habenaeias is rephoed by
two spurs. Both thesc orchuds are frequinily used for
table deceration. Rescocx, with ik large lilac flowers,
1s conspicuous on grussy slopes above 7,000 feet, where
it 15 cxXteernely commmen.
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We now come to the following planw which are in
full Sower during August and Sepswember: namely;
parnassia nubisola, ancmone vitifolia, geranium Walli-
chianum, scveral species of impatiens, lilium  Walli-
clianum, and gloriosa superda. Parnassia is found n
open grassy places oo the tops of the principal peaks
round Naini Tal. The aemenc is common in all the
smrounding oak forcsts, and it closcly rescmbles the
ancmone jajomeu so frequently grown in gardens at
home. The geranium is also abundant in ek forests
above 7,000 feet,and the Jarge blue and pink flowess
casily distinguish it from any of the other species of
geraniwm. Impatiens is the Latin name for the balsams.
These are conspicuous flowers which arc casily recog-
nized as balsams by the well-known shupe of the flowers.
There are both yellow and pink species, and they occur
abundantly in denj and morw foresws. The lily named
after the great betanist Wallich is sometimes referred
to as the Jeolikot lily and sometimes as the Bhowali
lily. Tt is found at clevations betvween 3,000 and 6,060
fect. The seems are from four to six fect high, and the
pure white sweet-scented flowers are from six t tcn
inches long. This beautiful lity was threatened with
cxtinction some years ago, and a rulc was conscquently
made forbidding any one to dig up the rools, and the
flowers t be picked ant brought into Naini Tl except
on the issue of a written permit. This rule is still in
force. Gleriosa superba is sometimes called the Bhim
Tal lily as it is common in that neighbourhood. This
lily is not, like the preceding, of the Madonna lily type
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and, by the uninitiated, would passibly not be recogn'zed
as belonging to the lily family at all. It is a dimber and
is found both in the plains and along the outer ranges
of the hills up to 5,000 feet. The narrow wavy segments
of the fower are at first green, changing later to bright
yellow and red. These two lilies arc scarcely entitled to
a place on our list, smce they arc mostly found in forest
below the oak. The Aowers ot poth are, however, re-
gularly brought into Naini Tal by malis, and for thrs
rcason and on account of their great beauty they could
not well be omitted.

The rains have now passed, and most of the flowers
we have been considering have already withered or are
turning brown. There arc, however,a few plants still
continuing to display their brightly owloured Aowers
amongst the prevailing signs of decay, Three only will
be mentioned, namely dipsacus incimis, aster asperulus,
and Jacruca macrorhiza. The dipsacus, with i% closely
packed hcads of white flowcers, grows abundantly
throughout the oak forcsts and especially in forest blanks.
Though looking more like a seabious,it is really a
teazel. The aster is also common in oak forest and is
easily rccognized by its large pink or mauve heads.
Another less ornamental specics of aster with smaller
white flowers is comumon within the station iwelf. The
lactuca s very common between 7,000 and 8,000 feet,
growing on banks, road-side or rocky ground.

®nly thosc plants have se far been mentioned wlhich
have striking or cxeeptionally beautiful flowers. During
the late autumn months a walk through the woods or
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cven round our cempounds will usually result in certain
sceds adlwering to the clothing in o persistent and ex-
asperating manner. Jo will, pechaps, preve of somec
general interest to note on the cemmenest of these plant
auisances. First, there is a stout shrubby plant eyathale
tomenrosa with large burrs an inch er more acress
which is not uncommon on waste ground ncar habita-
ticns. Then there is achyranthes bidentata, which grows
abundantly throughout the statton and preduces leng
spiles of hooked oblong fruits about a quarter of an
inch long. Equally abundant is bidens Wallichi, a
small herh, the fruits of which are quike narrow and
about half an inch leng with threc or feur barbed bristles
‘atonc cnd.  Perhaps dhe most unpleasant of all is cysio-
glossum, of which there is mere than enc specics, and
whese small Dbristly nuatlets, cluswred {our together,
adhere with great wnacity. Lastly there is the common
agrimony of England, agrimonium Eupatoritim, with
reunded bristly fruits about a quarter of an inch diamcter
which is abusidant in oak forest.

In cenclusion, bricf mentwn must be made of the
dahlia, which, though an exotie, has run wild en the
southern slopes within the station arca and spreads
naturally by sced. It is, however, apparently unable to
mawmntain itself under ordinary jungle conditions, and 15
tharelere, restricted to the statien isclf.



CHAPYER III
FAUNA OF NAINJ TAL

have been omitted. The larper mammals belong to feur
ordens—the Primatcs, the Carnivora, the Rodentia and
the Ungulata, and these orders will be considered
separatcly.

The Pri atkes include man, monkcys and icmurs.
The only representative of this group, excluding mab,
is the Himalayan langur (semnopithecus schistaceus).
A troup resides almost permanently on the Jower slopes
of Checna, and makcs conswnt raids on gardens, tearing
up and devouring flowcrs and vegembles in the most
destructive manner. This langur is also abundant in
the Tarai and Bhabar forests, and is the only species of
langur found hcre. The Bengal monkey (macaco

meldata) is seldom seen above 4,000 feet elevation.

The Carnivora include seven animals—the tiger,
panther, palm-ivet, jackal, fox, marien, and bear.
Tigers 1 rely appear very close to the seation itscl{, and
can scarccly be regarded as permancnt resvdents any-
where within a radius & five miles round the station,
though they ay,amd do, icmporasily takc up their
abode in the less frequented foress. They become mere
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numerous in the hills during the rains, especially during
the latter half of the rains when, owing to the dense grass
and herbaccous under-growth, conditions in the Tarai
and Bhabar arc apparcntly less congenial to them, whilst
conditions in the hills beceme morc so owing, perhaps,
to the denser cover. Panthers, ou the other hand, arc
common, and a year necver passes without onc or
morc dogs being taken. The jumble of rocks at the
back of Handi Bandi is a favouritc rcsort of panthers
and there is also ample cover for them in all the forests
round. They take no notice of the eleciric lighting and
have been known to descend to the outskirts of the
bazar. lt is consequently unsafe 10 allow a dog to wander
far from heel after dusk. The Himalayan palm-civet
(paradoxuras grays) is very noctuunal, and also scarce so
that it is scldom scen. le is a gicy animal, about tic
siz¢ of the common fox, with a pomlcd muzzle and long
tail. The jackal (canis mrea;) is belicved to be a recent
arrival in our hill station. Nowadays their dismal crics
as they collect after dusk in the ncighbourhood of Sukhi
Tal or on the lower slopes of Cheena arc frequentdy
heard; but it is believed they have only taken up thelr
quarters here during the last few years. The hill fox
(vwelpes montana) is rarely heard and stli more rarcly
seen, He is litde more than a variety of the English
fox and only differs in being rather smaller, paler in
colour and not so red. The northern Indian marten
(mmustes flavigula), though not a rare an'tmal, is not very
often seen. In swze and shape it closcly resembles the
Europcan marten {rom which it is distinguishable at a
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glance by its blawk head, back, hind quackers and tail.
It is also closely relased to the sable of Eastern Asia, but
the pelt of our Indian marten is of vcry inferior quakty
and of little value as a fur. These martens usually roost
in hollow trees, and they are practically emnivorous.
They are almost invariably scen in pairs, and tnquisitive-
ness 1s a strong trait in their character which can some-
times be made usc of in bringing them to bag. They are
very desaructive to birds and eggs, and should be shot
whenever possible. The Himalayan black bearx (zorsus
torquatus) is found at ccrtain seasons in the foress round
Naini Tal, but he can scarcely be regarded as common
or even as a pcrmanent resident. ¥ceding mainly on
fruis and roots, bears at all t'mes Jive 2 wandezing life
and frcquent thosc forcsts svhich are producing for the
time being the greatest abundance of the fruis they cat.
In September, the fruit of v/burnum cotwifolium, and
in Octaber, the acorns of the morw oak attract them;
whilst from December to February they feed largely on
the acorns of the a2/ oak. Bears do much harm to cro

of millet when they are ripening in September; but
whercas twenty-five ycars ago they were very abundant
thronghout Kumaun they are now comparatively scarce,
se that the damage they do is of littlc importancc. Bears
make their den, as a rule, in some jungle cave, but it is
not generally known that the Himalayan black bears
also make for thcmsclves temporary shelwers in dense
bushy growth by pulling together the surrounding
branches and undergrowth. This bear, like the sloth bear
of the plains, is black with a white horse-shoc mark on
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the chest, but differs from the later 1 having black
instcad of white claws, and 2 shorter and thicker coat,
as becemes an animal living itx « cold climate.

In this brief description of the Carnivora no mention
has been reade of the jungle cat or the leopard cat, cither
of which may bk found in the surrounding forests.

We now cote te the Rodens, of which there arc
threce—the tlying squirrel, the porcupine and the hare.
The large red fying squirrel (petawsista albiventer) is
about two and a half fout lony, but merc than hall of
this is tail. In colour, be is mainly chestnut above and
rufous beneath. Iis limbs ave united by a membeanc or
parachute, which extends wWong and joins together the
forc and hind limbs, fotming a broad cxpansion on
cither side of the body when the Jimbs are extended. By
this mcans he is enabled to vol-plane {rom tree Lo tree,
alighting, ef nccessity, at a lower level than that from
which he started. Flying .squirrcls live dwing the day
in holes in trees and oply emerge at dusk. Vhey are
common in Naini Tal itsell; and their presence s often
betrayed by thcir charactensic whining call. They live
very largely on the acorns of the sore oak. Another
smaller flywng squirecl (peeromsys fimbriatus) is also pro-
bably foundin Naini Tal but, if so, it must be very much
rarer than the large red ore. The Indian porcupine
(hystrix lenesra) lives in burrows and crevices amongst
rocks during the day time and only emerges at night
Conscquently it is scldom seen, even in localities where
it is abundant. Though faitly commen in chir foresw
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they scldom ascend amengst the oaks, and arc ua-
doubtedly rare in the iivuncdiate neighbourhood of Naini
Tal. The hare which occurs in the hills has been ident:-
tied for the present with the plains species (Jepus
retficanduta), though cxperts censider that it will probably
be found to belong to a different race. Haves, though
somcwlat scarce, arc o be found in all the forests round
Naini Tal, even up to the very top of Cheenn

The last order of m:xmmals 10 be considered is the
Ungulaia or hooled guadrupeds. In this group we have
to censider the screwv, goral, barking deer, sambhar and
wild bear. The screw and goral belong 10 genera, which
arc intcrmediate between goass and anrJopes. The horas
arc not shed, and have a bony cere with horny sheath.
These do net differ in sizce t any marked degree in the
uwo sexes, and they are short and closely ringed. The
serow (nemorhacdus bubalinus) is not a common animal,
but he keeps so much to dense undergrowth and so
scldom venturces inte the open that he appears w be
less common than is actually the case. A few live
amongst the rocky forcst-clad ground on Handi Bandi
and the nerth face of Ayarpas, and are not infrequently
secn by the residents of Mount Pleasant and Hill Crest
bungalows. The goral (cemmns goraf) lives on the skep
ground facing the Government House golf links and
occasyonally one may be seen on the face of Cheena, since
both these localities arc within the municipal arca where
all shooting is prohibited. Outside this sanctuary it is
nceessary te go seme miles before they can be seen in
any aumbers. The barking decr and sambhar are the
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only two rcprcsentatives of the famuly of true deee or
cervidae. In this family, the horns wke the form of solid
antlers without corc or horny shcath, and are shed peri
odically. The barking dcer (cervridus mountiac) is fairly
common in all the eak (ercsts round Naini Tal and onc
mey often be leard calling from the upper slopes of
Ayarpata which facc the lake. The sambhar (cervus
unicolor) is alse not uncommon in these same eak
forcsts, but keeps very much te the denscr and less [rc-
quented portions, and thus 1s scldomn seen. Sambhar in
the hills carry, as a rule, a very much bner head rhar
they do in the plains, A vary good head was picked up
<lose to Kilberry bungalow, and is now in the Naini
Tal Club. Therighthorn mcasures 4234 iuches, and the
haens have a spread of s1¥4 inches.

This brief revicw of the larger mammals is htly
breught to a close with the Indian wild bear (sus cvis-
tatus) whose {cats of valour arc well known to spormsmen.
Pig are not really common anywhere in the hills and yet
they are found all over Kumaun,cven as far as the
roain Himalayan range, and up o an clevatien of at
feast 12,000 [eet.



CHAPTER IV
BIRDS OF NAINI TAL

ma HE bird life ol a IHimalayan swton is no
% more a fixed quantity than is thatof any part
Soascy o England;in fact it is probably less so,
smcc the migrations of Indian birds arc undeubtedly
more intricake and varxed than is the casc at home. Be
this as it may, it is impessible w become intimatcly
acquainted with birds in India unless frequent study
15 made of the problems of migrason. Far this rcason
the birds to be commonly seen in and atound Naini Tal
will here be pu’marily classified according to whether
they are resident or migratory. If this classification were
too rigidly applied, we should find ourselves surrounded
by many difficulties, as mest resident species move up
and down with the seasens to some extent, and it would
be difficele %0 decide when this lecal movement became
a migration. Moreover such migrations have been very
lide studied. The following classihcawon must, there-
fore, be given 2 very broad intespretation,

In some ways the mugrauions of birds in Naini Tal
might be comparcd to the migraton of the human
pepulation in ths station. The members of the Eastera
Command, for instancc, might be regarded as pesmanent
residents, whilst the Sceretariat are dissinctly migratory.
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It must, however, be conlessed that according to rel'uble
information the members of the Scerctariat do not, s
a rule, restrict their nesting operations to their sumpacr
residence in the hills. For this and other obvious rcasons
the analogy must not be pressed too far,

The resdent specics will be constdered frst. “This
group includes such well-known Lirds as crows, tits,
jays, laughing-thrushes, aut-hatches, uve-crecpers, black-
birds, weodpeckers, owls and pheasants. It will he only
possible to give here the bricfest account of sume of the
morc conspicyous or interesting resident species. We
will begin with onc which, by reason of its numbers,
impudence and cascality, is continually (orced upon our
notice. This is the common jungle crow (corvus coro-
noides) the scavenger round our kitchens and in the
bazars. Some ycars ago a rcward was offcred for every
bird shot as it was considered that they were becoming
a public nuisance ! That they destroy nxny small nests
and devour eggs and nesthings is of course well known.
It is 10 be noted that the Indian house crow {(corzus
splendens) so abundant in towns, in the plains, and
casily distinguished from the jungle crow by its pale
ashy mantle, is not found in Naini Tal. Closcly allied
to the crows is the red-billed blue magpic (xrocisse
melanocephala). This beautiful but noisy bird iz almost
invariably scen in small partics, and the fight down hill
is a charactenist'« glide in which the long t:ut forms a
censpicvous object. From beak to tip of tail it measurcs
about two {cet. The bill and legs arc bright red, whilst
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the prevailing colour of thebody and tadl is blue, though
the head “isblack and many feathcrs are parly whitc.
It breeds locally in the oak forcsts and is by no means
rare,

The uhiquitous house sparrow 15, of course, found
here as cverywhere else within the British Empire. @f
mere pleasing and stiiking appearance is i ncar relaiion
the cinnamon trec sparrow {passer rutdans) which also
nests at times in our bungdlows and outhouses, It is
casily recognized by the upper plumage which i a
bright cinnamon-rcd in the male, and somewhat simiiar
bat duller in the female. A bird which always attracts
aticntion by reason of its bright plunage is the shon-
billed minivet (pericrocotus brevireswis). Except when
breeding, these birds go about in small but cheerful
partics, keeping rather to the tops of troes. They are
about the size of a wagtail,and in the male the hcad,
upper back und parts of the wings and tail are black,
the rest of the plumage being cdmsen, In thie femalc
the red of the male is replaced by ycllow and the black
portons arc mostly grey. This mim'vet is probably
migralory to some cxtcnt,

The common myna (acvidotheres #istis) and the
common pariah ki (malveus migrens) arc both very
comymon in Naini Tal; but as they are comunon in the
plains and so well known, we will dism1ss them without
furthcr comment, aod will pass on to consider the
laughing-thrushes. These arc thrushlike birds which

frecpuently go about in small partics, The red-headed
3
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laughing-thrush {(¢roc/:alopterum erithroa phalum) may
be distinguished by a chestnut ¢rown and blackish
throat, the rest of the plumage being mawly shades of
olive-brown. It is common on the wooded slopes of
Chccena, but docs not frequent the station iself. On the
other hand the Himalayon streaked laughing-thrush
(trechidopterum lincatum) is comnmon all over the
station, and being very tame and confiding by nature may
even be obscrved huating for jusects among the verandsh
flower-pots. ‘Though it is tame, its habit of creeping
abouwt in dense vegetasion causcs it to be frequently over-
looked. The nest and cggs arc not unlike a large edition
of the English hedge sparrow. The two laughing-
thrushes just mentioned aec not nowceably sociable; but
the whitc-threated laughing-duush (garrddax albigula
ris) is ahmost ‘wyar'ubly scen in large or small partics,
which, i{ distuirbed, as by the presence of a dog, cx-
press their resenument by loud and vehement hissing.
The plumage is mainly olive-brown, cxcept for the
checks, throat and tips of the ouker tail feathers which
are whitc. ‘They are {airly comnwon in the forest round
Naini Tal, and breed in April and May, laying three
beautiful glossy decp-bluc eggs in a nest placed at no
great height from the ground. These three laughing-
thrushes are the only common representatives of this
cxtensive {amily to be found in the ininediate vicinity
of Naini Tal, though the striated laughing-thrush
(grammatopxla strearz), a wnch larger bird than any
of those described, is occasionally seen singly or in pairs
in dense forest away from habitations.
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We now pass on to the family ef blackbirds and
thrushes,  @f these the most conspicuous rsember is
the Himalayan whistling-thrush (myiophonens Hors-
freldr) better known as the whistling schoolboy. A rather
large English blackbird with a blue sheen on the plu-
mage and a conspicuously yellow bill can be no other
than the whistling schoolboy, He is generally scen in
the vicinity of water; and the song is a varied and
mclod mms whistle which is often heard when the fixst
rays of morning light arc crecping up the castern sk y.
A rather similar bird is thc grey winged blackbird
surdiss boulbond), but it “1sfully two inches shorter #han
the whistling scheolboy, lacks the bluc sheca on the
body, and has a grey patch on the wing. Morcover the
hen bird is brown, whercas beth sexes of the whistling
schoolboy arc similarly attired. The grey-winged black-
bird inay be seen in any of the oak forests reund the
sstion, but as it is by nature rather shy its song, which
compares favourably with that of any other blackbird
for varicty and richness of tonc, is not, as a rule, heard
in the immediate vicinity of bungalows. There is only
onc other resident specics belonging to this family.
This is the whitccollarcd ovzel (2swdus albicincta), the
male of which is black cxcept for a whik collar all
roand the neck. The hen bird is brown. It i not ua-
common in the ook forests at the back ef Checna above
7,500 fect, where it breeds during May and June. When
going te roosy, and again at dawn, it utters a gote closcly
resernbling that made by the English blackbird under
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sintilar circunistances; but the actual song, which is dis-
tinctly finc, is morc like that of the Engli.sh thrush.

The next bird to be consicered is one which though
sonwewhat quict and unobtrusive in i habits is neverthe-
less well known to most residents of Naini Tal on
account of its monotonous and loud call, somewhat
reserbling “piaw’”, which is uttered with gteat persw-
tence {rom May to July. This is the gicat Himalayan
barbet (megalicina virens), the only rcprescnstive of
the barbets to be found in Nuini Val. Like ether bhanets
it is a [roiteater, and has a steong bill which s all the
morc conspicuous for its yellew colour. The plumiyge is
alsy bright; the head and acck ate pueplish-black; the
back i shades of olive, yetiow and green: aad there is a
bright bluc parch in (he middle of the breast and ab-
domen, and a scarlet patch onder the tail. The bird is
over 2 (oot long. Brief mention must be made of the
common Indian kinghsher («lcede arthis) which has
made the Naini Tal lakc its home. This bright lule
kingfisher is nearly the sarae as the English bird and,
therefore, requires no description, Thercare no swallows
or matins in Naini Tal,or at lcast nonc that arc
resident; but the common Indian swift (mrcrepus
affiis) a bird net ualike our English swify, but smaller
and with a white rhroat and a conspicuous white band
across the rump, is {ound in many bungalows all over
the station.

No rucnt'@n has yct becn made of the game birds,
of which there is consideeable vatiety. There are three
specics of pheasaut. Perhaps the finest of these, and the



only onc with a long tail like the English bird, is the
cheer pheasant (cwrens Wallichr). The il is {ourteen
or filteen inches long, compared with only eight inches
in the other two pheasants. The gencral celouration of
these birds is produced by a blending of greys and buffs
which tones in mest wonderfully with their natural
surroundings, namcly, stecp grassy slopes, except for
about thrce months wlhen the grass is green. Both the
cock and the hen have a crest, but it is much longer 1
the cack bird, and there is a bright red naked patch
round the eye on cach side of the head. 'Lhey are not
very abundant in the vicinity of Nuini Tal, though there
arc usually a few on the bare hill-side abeve the Govern-
ment Heusc gelf links,and others arc to be found
scattered about the grassy slopes of Cheena and the other
larger hills. There is generally, at least one pair living
on the steep south face of Cheena, and these may be
heard calling in the very caiiy morning or at dusk, from
wrost of the bungalows situated at this end of the
sition. Then there is the koklas pheasant (pucrasia
macrolopha) in which both scxes are again crested; but
whereas the crest is quitc short in the hen bird, in the
cock it is long and consists of a pale ceniral portion
Alanked by two longey lateral tufts wluch, like the rest
of the head, are black with a greea gloss. Furthermore,
the ceck has a white patch on each side of the aeck,
whilst the back is mostly grey and the under parts largely
rofous v chestnut. The plumage of the hwen bird is
somewhat stmilar but duller. ‘This fine pheasant is rather
scarce, but is {found throughout the vak {orests on Cheena
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and the surrounding hills, often descending in winter
to the zone of the chur pine. It is cssentially a bird of
the forest and, when fushed, usually flies straight down
hill, thus offering a very sporting shot te a gun posted
below. Lastly ¢here is the whitccrested kali) pheasant
{gennaests Hamudtonir), the best known of all the local
phcasants by reason of its wide distribution and com-
paative abundance. In the kalij, the hcad of both sexes
is crested, but the crest is only conspicuous in the male,
as in Lhis casc the feathers are white. There is a bare
crimson paxch on cach side of iic Iicad round the eye
just as in. the cheer pheasant. Ia the ceck bird, the upper
plumage is mainly black, glessed with blue or green with
a certain amount of whitc vn the cdges of the {cathers,
whilst the breast is whitish. The hen bitd is mainly
brown. Kalij are found in cvery type of foresw and at
all clevations in the hills round Naint Tal, and, ewing o
the municipal arca being a sanctuary, they are not un-
cemmen on the outskiris of the statfon itsclf. They are
difficult cnough te shoot when flying downhill threugh
a maze of stems and branches, but unfortunately they
cannot always be induced to fly unlegs driven by inen, as
when Rushed by dogs they have a habit of flying up intw
trecs, a habit most annoying to the spertstian.

We will now consider the partridges. First of all
there is the common hill partridge (¢rborscola torgucola).
This is a bitd about two-thirds the size of the common
grey partridge of the plains. The crown of the head,
which is bright chestnut in the nale, is ohvc—bmwn
with black spots in the female. The upper parts in both
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sexes are mainly olive-brown, barred and spotted with
black. The pcura, as this bird is locally called, in-
habits the densest pertions ef the forest and, though
never very cemmon, is found in all the evergreen foresw
round Naini Tal. When pursucd by dogs it usually
runs fer some distance and then either fies up hill or
into thc branch of a tree. In the former casc when
flushed a second time it nearly always flies straight
downhill. Owing to the dense jungle surroundings in
which they arc found, the sporsman will eften {ail
to get a single shot, theugh sevcral birds may have becn
flashed during the day. The call of the pews is cither
a long-drawn low whisle or a combinaton of three
whistling notcs rcpeated several times in at ascending
scale. 'The next paruridge to be considered is the chakor
(alecteris graeca). This bird is generally well known,
and it necd only be mentioncd that it much rescmbles
both in size and colouring the partridge known in
England as the French partridge. The chakor is not
found in any numbers closc te Naini Tal, though there
are usually a few in the vicinity of such places as Pangot,
Khurpa Tal, Jeolikot and Bhim Tal. The only other
partridge is the nortbern Indian black partridge (farn-
colinus francolinus), also too well known to require des-
cription. Moreover this bird is scldom scen, and unlcss
the sportsman goes far aficld, e is unlikely o meet
oge,

Beferc leaving the resident specics, mention may be
made of two owls. Owls are seldom seen, but are fre-
quently heard and may be casily recognized by their



8 NAINI TAL

calls. The spotted Himalayan scops owl (ofus spidece
phalus)is common, and has a call of 1we bell-like whist-
ling notes—*‘whoo-whoo™. Tt is a small owl, about eighi
inches long. Equally common is the collaied pigmy
owlct (lancidinm brodeir), bat this little owlet, which
is slightly smaller than the last, has a call of four (not
two) clear whistling notcs—*“whoo-whoo whoo-whoe™ —
which we pitched somewhat lower than those of the
scops owl. It is also setvewhat diumnal, whereas the
scops is cntircly nocturnal. Both these owls are ch'ufly
heard during the cold weather and early spting months.

Wc haw now desaibed the commencr resident
speies and will consider thesc which are migratory. It
will be sitmplest to divide the migratory specics into
two groups. In onc group will be placed those birds
whicl breed fn and avound Naini Tal during the smimer
months, whilst in the other geoup will be placed those
which do not stay to breed, but pass on northwards to
that fascinating country nestling under the snowy peaks
of the main Himalayan range, or to the equally {ascinat-
ing plains beyend, Once again it should be remembered
that this greuping is entirely arbitrary and no hard-
and-fast distinction cxists between the two groups. A
liberal interpretation must, therefore, be placed on the
classification adopted, and it must be realized thiat sorae
birds, as for instancc the Indian rufous wrile-dove or
the dark-grey bash-chat, might, with alimost cqual claiimn,
be placed in cither group, since they breed in the outer
as wall as the inner ranges of the Hmalaya.
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The first group of migrants have wintered at low
levels in the hills or in the plains, and begin to retun
to their breeding haunts in the wcinity of Naun Tal
tewards the end of March. To this group belongs the
dark-grcy bush-chat (ercicola ferrea), a species which
breeds all over the station dur ug the summer months,
The cock 1s casily reragnized by his general ashy-grey
appcarance and palc cyc strip with pure whitc breast;
the hen, by her general rufous celeuration. In striking
contrast 1o the sombre plamage of the bush-chat is the
bright verditcr-bluc of the verdixr Hycatcher (stopsarole
melanops) m which both sexcs are similarly atired
theugh the female is not quite so bright as the malc.
The uniform bluc of thesc birds is only rclieved by a
black spot in front of the cye. The cock bird has quite
a fine song and diffess in this respect from nearly all
flycatchers. They breed in holes in banks, or under the
caves of bungalows. Anether brightly-coloured bird ef
this class is the bluc-headed rock-thrush (petrop/ide
<cinclorhyncha), the male of which has the head mostly
a brilliant cobalt blue; the wings, blue and black with
a centra! whitc patch; and the rump and lewer plumage,
a rich chestrut, This bird hss a pretty song, and breeds
in holes in banks, {requently in cumings at the side of
the road; but unlikc the verdisex fycatcber, it is sby and
retiring in its habits,

There urc two small flycatchers which descrve maen-
tion. ®nc is the grey-headed flycatcher (cudicicapa
ceylenensis), which is about the size of an English willow
wren. The hcad is ashy-grey; the back, greenisl; and the
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under parts yellow; whilst the bird's sprightly attitude
and cheerlul song of only {our notes malke it a general
favourite. 1t may be scen all over Naini Tal during the
summer moaths, and il the birds be watched during
April and May they will be seen constructing a cup-
shaped nest of moss which s bound by cobwebs to the
rough trunk of a wrcc. The other Aycatcher is the whitc-
browed blue flycatcher (cyornss superedianis). It is about
half an inclt shorter than the last species, and the male
can be recognized by the very promincnt white cycbrow,
the dull blue upper plumage, and the dull bluc collar half
across the breast. Unlikc the st spodes it s shy and
retiring, and is scldom scen closc to human habitations.
U prefers the well-wooded slopcs at. the back of Cheena
wherc it breeds in holes in trees.

Before Icaving this group of migrants we must con-
sider the waiblers. Of all the vast number which pass
up from the plains during the culy summer months
the only one to sty and breed with vs in Naini Tal
is Hedgson’s grey-headed flycatcher-warbler (cry piol pha
xanthosehista) which, however, males up (o some cxtent
in numbers what is lacking in vacrety. “Fhas littde warbler
buikls a domeshaped nest on the ground, likc its relative
the willow wren at home, and may be gencrally recog-
nized by its small size, pale grey upper pliage, the
white stiipc above the eyc and the ycllow under phumage.

Only the cuckoos now remain. There arc four, which
may be hcard in or around the station, and three of these
almost certainly brced here. The fourth, the Asiati'c
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be scen on the Flas during the last week of August ar
first weck of Seplember.

It has alrcady been mentioned that the Asvan’c cuckoo
(cucnlus cenorus) belongs probably to this group of
migrants. It ccrainly breeds on the inner ranges of the
Himalaya as it remains calling n these parts till late
in the scason; but it is doubt{ful whether it remains
to brecd on the outer ranges, though it is commeonly
heard here i April on its fisst arrival.

We will conclude this group with that silent and
mysrciious bird the woodcock (scolopax rusticala). No
descripdon of this bird is ncceseary. [ts owl-Itke flight
and crepuscular habits ace well known. It probably
begins ta asnve in the Naini Tal hills fatc in November,
bat much depends on the amount of snow which has
fallen in the higber ranges. At any time the number
of birds to be found is not great,and most sporismen
will be satisfied if the results of a clay’s pheasant shooting
includes even a single woodcock,

This complctes the description of the three groups
we sct out (o review. Therc is, however, one bird which
may bc mentioned on account of its great beauty,though
it is only a raic and occasional visitor during the rains.
'This is the long-tailed broadbill (psarisomes Dalhousiae).
Its votal lengtle is about ten inches, half of which is made
up of the greatly graduated tatl. The sexes are alike,
and the gencral colouratien is bright green, but there is
a2 good deal of black on the hecad, conrasting swrangly
with the chin, and a patch behind the cye which are
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o2k forests, cspacially those at the back of Checna where
it parasitises the nests of wochmlopteruin erythroce-
phalum. The call is very similar to that of the brain-
fever bird of the plains,and to a casual obsexver the
difference would scarcely be noticeable. For the bencfit
ol those who do net alrcady know the call of the brain-
tever bird far too well, it may be «lescribed as “Pipe-ya™
repeated 1nany times in an ascending scale.

We will now pass on to the other group of migrants,
nanicly, thosc which breed in the higher ranges of the
Himalaya but winter in the plains or outer hill rangces.
Thesc birds pass northwards throwgh Naini Tal chicfly
during May and carly Junc, and theit nunbers are se
considerable as to niuake a very noticcable increase in the
Jocal bird population. Thesc migrant hoxdes are Jargely
cemposcd of small and somewhat inconspicuous willow-
warblers belonging 1o the gencral phylloscopus and
acanthopneuste. One of these, which is probably more
numcrous than any of the others, has a netc by which
the bird ean be casily recognized. This is the orange
bacred willow-warbler (phylioscopus pulcher) and the
song, which is a very perfect initation of that uttercd
by the woodwren in Eagland, is composcd of rapidly
vibrated notcs {orming a high-pitched trill in a slighdy
descending cadence. @n their retten jeurncy, the mig-
rants arc less noticcable than oo thcir jeurncy north,
because the brecding season has passed and they are
consequently more silent. About the fust to axrive is
the grey wagtail (motacilla cinerea), a burd which is
also feund in Britain. "This graceful wagt.il is usvally to
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be secn on the Flaw during the last week of Augst or
fiest week of Scptember.

It has alrcady been mentioned that the Asiatic cuckoo
(curcudses canors) belongs probably to this group of
migrants. It ccrwminly breeds on the inner ranges of the
Himalaya as it remains calling in these parts Gll late
in thc scason; but it is doubtful whether it rcmaint
to breed on the outer ranges, though it is commonly
heard here in April on its first arrival.

We will conclude this group with that silent and
mystetious bird the woodcock (scofopax rusticola). No
description of this bird is ncceseary. Its owlltke fighr
and crepuscular habits are well known. It probably
begins to arnve in the Naini Tal bills late in November,
but much depends on the amount of snow which has
fallen in the higher ranges. At any time the number
of birds to be found is not great, and most sportsmen
will be satisfied if the results of a rlay’s pheasant shooting
includes even a single weodeock.

This completes the description of the three groups
we sct out to review. There is, however, one bird which
may be mentioned on ascount of its great beauty,though
it is only a raic and occasional visitor during the ruins.
This is the long-tailed broadbill (psarisomus Dalkousiae).
Its total Iength is about tcn inches, balf of which is made
up of the grealy graduated tail. The sexcs ace alike,
and the general colouration is bright green, but there is
a good deal of black oz the hcad, contrasting strongly
with the chin, and a patch behind the eye which are
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bright ycllow and pass into an orange collar. The wings
are partly black and partly bright bluc with a patch of
white. They arc normally seen at [ow clevations in the
outer hills and in the Bhabar, and have been recorded
to breed near Jeoliket, but they ave distinctly rare birds,

and will always attvact attention by reason of their bright
plumage.



CHAPTER V

GOVERNMENT HOUSE AND GROUNDS,
NAINI TAL

Formerr GoverwétntT Housss

7 (= HE first house in Naini Tal eccupied by the
\_ Liencnant-Governor of the Narth-West
oerscq, Proviaccs stood where the Ramsay Hospital
now stands, and was called Stoneleigh. In_ 1865, the
then Licutenant-Goveronor (Hon. E. )mmmond) buslt
a house upon the Maldon estate on Sher-ka.danda Hill,
and sold itat the end of his tenure of office.” From that
dax onwards untill 1879, this house was rented by
successors in office, Sir Willi-am Muir, Sir John Strachcy
and Sir George Couper. It came in wWme to be felt,
however, that the Maldon House was not wholly suitable
for thic Head of the province, and Sir George Couper
decided to build a new Goverrunient House on the Sher-
ka-danda Hill ncar St. Loo Gorge. This had festunately
just been completed whea the great landslip of 188
occurred. The landslip damaged the Maldon House
and made it unsafe. S Geerge Couper moved into
the new house and the Maldon House was dismantled.
The St. Leo house was a gabled building in the
Eliz.abethan stylc, standing in 2 comuwanding positien
on the skylinc of Sher-ka.danda, with splendid views
of the lake, the plains and snows. It was successivety




96 NAINI TAL

occupicd by Sir Alfred Lyall, Sir Auckland Colvin and
Sir Charles Crosthwaite. Unluckily, soon after it was
built, cracks appeaced in the walls, and as the hill-sides
werc as yet unsecured by masonry drains, these gradually
increased in such an alarming way that when Siv Antony
MacDonncll came to the province as Licutenant-Gover-
nor in 1895 he resolved to abandon the honse and to
build a new one. The Government of Indis’s approval
was obtaincd, and cventually after somxe diificuitics an
excellent site was found neac Shenvood, 10 the south-
east of Ayarpata Hill, which lics on the south-west of the
lake. Sherwood Housc, 'which at the time was occupied
by the Boys’ Diocesan School, was taken over as a
temporary residence foir the Licutenant-Governor, while
the present house was being built, and certain additions
and altcrations to it were cficcted at a cost of about
Rs, 22,000.

The [oundation stonie of the new Government House
was laid on Aprnl 27, gy, and the building was
fin'ished in March 1900. It was occupied by Sir
Antony MacDonncll in that ycarj and has been inhabited
afeer him by Sic James La Teuche, Sir Jehn Rewe,
Six Jaincs (now Lord) Meston, Sir Harcourt Buler and

Sir William Marris. 42 -hee Eiwin

The cstate compriscs 226-actes, chiclly of hill and
forest. Much of it was already Governient land
manciged by the municipality; but the Sherwood estate
was acquired from the diocesan auvthorises, and two
other propertics, Ardmore and Gwaltkhet, were acquired
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{rom private owners. Small pieces of land wete also
purchased from the adjoining propertics of the Church
of St. Nicholas and St. Mary and of St Joseph’s
seimipary. w

" The grounds have remarkable charm. To the sout);
and west they arc bounded by rough cliffs with a sharp
descent of about 2,000 feet. On the north they ascend
the stopes of Ayarpata Hill, end nise o a height of 7,300
feet above sea-level. On a clear day the view of the
plains from various points of vantage in the grounds is
of wide exsent and unusual beauty. Most of the estate
is under forest. f'here arc varictics of oak, rhododen-
dron, holly, deodar, besides various other tvcs imperted
from Europe. There are khakar, hare and pheasant in
the woods: and goral may bc seen at limes on an
inaccessible peak jutting out over the plains. Leopards
frequently invade the gm%s from Ayarpaw and are”
a ‘constant menace to dogsThe grounds bave been laid
out with well-graded paths leading through the woods.
In the centre of the estawe iles a level suetch of turf
which was once ihe school crckerground: and at a
lower level is a natural grassy valley, formerly a morass
during the wet months which is now drained by a con-
cealed tunnel. These open spaces have been connected
up by glades ingeniously opencd up through the forest,
untl from smasll beginnings there has, over a period of
years, been constructed a complete golf couuse of eighteen.
‘holes. The course is remarkable, not merely for the
‘beauty of its setting, but for the adventurousness of the
game which the natural hazards provide. The holes are

7
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mostly short. The bogey for the course is Ge. | Fhe rpcord
scorc up to dat [(1927) is §8 which was d
Mr. H. A. Lanc fﬁ 1927, He dkso_holds the re
for the last ninefheles. Every hole in the-catirse has bexn
slonc in two strokes, and, in 1926, thirtcen heles includ-
ing No. 3, the longest 267 yards), werc done in
onc stroke. It las been the practice {or some ycars past
for the coursc to be opened wo_mfcmber of the Club on
Tucsdays, Th%)n aturdays throughout the

$€aso1n.

inhc cost of building Government House with its
subsidiary buildings and of laying out the grounds was
about seven and a half hlchs, but this included an outlay
of some thing over a Takh upon the new Diocesan Scheol
on Ayarpata. The cost of clectric lighting and watcr-
supply came to ncarly another half a lakh.

The design was prepar d originally by Mr. Stevens,
a Bombay architect and by Mr. F. O. Ocstel, Executive
Engincer; but Mr. H. S. Wildeblood, wiw supervised its
construction, designed many of (e details. Sir Antony
MacDonacll himsell took the keckiest interest in the
building, as is apparent from the completion report. The
Exccutive Engincer mentioned thathe had reccived very
nuxereus written and oral instructions from the Licut-
enant-Governor during the progress of the work. Sir
Antony caused a footaow to be appended  aying thac
“in the opimion of the Licukcnant-Govcrnor these im-
swuctions have added very gready to the amenitics of the
house,”

J
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The architecturc has been professionally described as
of “the carly dorncsic Gothic, style”. The material is
grey stone, thougb some Agra red sandstonc was used
for the omamentation of the facade and radings, The
front aspect is dom'inated by six castellated tursets which
have recently benehted by the rcmoval of the steep
pinnacles which formerly crowncd them. The general
effect is one of solidity and dignity without exuberance.
But architccmuratly the house suifers from two defects.
The designers were unduly influenced by the idca of
affording preteciion from the sun. Living rooms and
bedsrooms alikc are nccdlessly cut off from the outer
air by heavy masaory verandabs or glazed corridors.
Morcover the designers admiteed a multitude and a
varicty of pointed arches which lack purpose and fail
in eflect. The back view of the house, which most
marly suggests an English countcy-house, 15 perhaps, its
most successful aspect.

bove sca.level with rising gzound beh'ind it,
screening it from precipitous cliffl edge; and with a sunk-
¢n lawn fringed with deodor trees in front It is
approached from the cntrance lodge near St. Nicholas
Church by a drive curving round the sunken lawn. The
house fronts north.west ©wards Ayaspata Hill. it is
shaped like ‘the letter E with the upright streke to _ﬁ;y:
feont. It is well-planned for working purposcs g
ace two stovies throughout cxcept in the castem wing,

% c house stands upon a plalcau at an alttudc of
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where, however, there is a basement with cellars, strong-
room and panuy. The front aspect suggests a third
story but this consists enly of Jumbcr rooms.

</ The ground-floor comprises the main reccption
rooms. The entrance porch leads through mm outer hall
wnto a centeai hall, now eovered by 2 domed roof though
the original intention was to crown it with a central
tower. On the west are the offices of the AJD.Cs, the
Private Scverctary and the Geverner: and on the cast
the card-room, the small Jrawing-room, the large draw-
ing-room and a conscrvatory. A passage about a liundted
yards long traverses the ground-fleor; and behind it lic
to the cast the large d'ving-roem with the billiard-1room
behind it, and a conscrvatory with 2 founteing in the
scntre the main strircase with the ball-rcem behind i
and to the west a clerks’ room and two dressing-rooms.
The west wing on the ground-floor contains three spare
bedrooms. Upstairs the two main bedrooms are in {ront
at the end of cither wing, and between each of them
and the main stairway are two scts of saaller bedrooms,
In front and ever the outer hall is a picasant well-lighted
sitting -room and library, The upper west wing contains

thrce more scts of bedrooms, and two small single
n

rooms. ,r';rm?w:aj ‘t"'-{ D Ewy

The bail-room measures sixty fect by thirty and
provides dancyng space for “reughly aso people. The
dining-room was oviginally fortycight féct by twenty-
four but has been extended to a length of seventy-two
fect. It is the largest room in the house. The large
drawing-rooin measures fafty fcct by twenty-four.

e
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In the main a local stone, a dark-grey marl; mixed
in the intersor cross.walls with lecal dolomite limestonc,
was uscd to build the house. White Nalaina frecstone
was used [reely on the exterior: and a limited use was
also made of Agra red sandstone, but, except as railings
to steps and balcenies, this has since becn replaced by
the grey freestonc. Mirzapur stone was chiefly used for
the steps and verandahs; and the house was roofed witly
Rewart state.,, Teak was used freely for the main stairway,
the panclling of the dining-room, all the doors and
windows «nd some of the principal foors. Elscwhere
shisham, sasinweod, cyprus 2ad sl were used s some
extent: and the lecal pinc wood was employcd for
1russes, joints and the less important flaors. The glass,
tiles, brass fittings and iren pipes came frem England.
Agra masons did the ashlacr stone-work and Punjabi
<arpenters the woodwork : the ordinary masonty work
and the paintiag and papcring were donc by local l=bour.
Lucknow, Agra and Fatchgarh jails supplied the original
carpets, some of which are still in use: Messrs, Lazarus
& Ca. of Calcuita and Messts. Maple & Co. of London
did most of the furnishing.

The outer hall, the dining-room and the ball-room
are gencrally regarded as the best features of the house.
The former has an ornamental teak ceiling and an
cffeciive black and whute marble floor, which is now
showiag signs of wear. It conmins 2 handsome and
comfortable ingle-nook in the Renaisance siyle which
was made originally for the St. Loo Government Housc.
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A finc pair of clephant tusks, which were picked np in
the Kumaun {otests, have been built into the oppaosite
wall.’} The scateal it t5-disappeiniing hy.acasen-of the
heavy coracs- picrs—{intended” B0 urty 2 centeal tower
which was never built), the multitude of-opermings, and
the discrepatcy between the awches of the ground and
uppey starics. The foor s of marble mmosate ules. The
ball-reotn, approached by passages on cither side of
the 1main staic, has an effetve simplicity. The floor is
ingeniously designed, and rests on railway rails. The
chicl ornament is in the ceiling mouldings, picked s
in white and gold.~—

The dining-roomn has a teak floor and ccithng. The
massive teak mouldings which run longitudknally along
the cciling are noticcable. Vhe two fire places arc of
Tudor paticen with ficestone [ionts bearing the pro-
vincial arats. A free use has been made of teak pancls,
and though the room presents some avchiwetural lapses
itdocs not lack dignity and comfort.  Theic is room for
6 peaple to dine.

The main {catue of the billiard-room is a good
winclow, with stone mulhons designed by Mr. Stevens.

The drawing-rooms and boudoir (or card-room) have
bow-windows, the effect of which is impaircd by the
heavy outside vcrandahs, The ceilings in the two draw-
ing.raons arc of lincrusta and in the boudoir of Kashnu'r
woodwork., Thc doors are good. The large driwing:
room has a Sieana marble mantlepicce with a desi
(choscn by Sir Anteny MacDonndll) blending the rosc.,

thistde and shmnrock.//
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The Western rooms tend to be gloomy in the morn-
ings but are pleasant in the afternoons. The chief
fcature of the Governor’s room ts a large fire-plase of
dark scrpeatinc.

The house, outhouses and grounds have their own

cectric installation. The powenhouse stands on a hill at
the back of the house.

Water for the housc is obtained [rom the muaicipal
mains. Four storage tanks arc situated on the hill behind
the housc, froa which three-inch pipes lead w© the
house. A few yecars ago a new system ol protection
against firc was added. This involved the construc¥on
of a large masonry 1ank, simated on the hill where the
flagstaff stands, which scrves also as a swimming bath.
Water for the garden is obtained by direct pumping
from the lakc.

The stables are airy and spacious. They swnd on 2
higher level behind the house not far from the power-
house. The scrvants’ houses and dhobi-ghat hie further
% the cast, well screencd off. Between them and the
house is a sqQuash-racket court: and necarer still to the
house is a scparate cottage built oniginally for a dairy
but recently saving as quarters for a housc-keeper.

T

From the {ront the house looks on to the south-west
slopes ol Ayarpaia Hill. To the left front there is a
view of a precipitous descent 1o the plains, which also
are just visisle in clear weather, Further to the Jeft the
grounds are bordered by the flagstaff hill which has
been skilfully planted with a variety of wees, and is enc
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of the pretticst features of the grounds. From the top»
of the flagstaff hill and again from many other points
westward along the ¢lifl cdge the view is magnificent
A herbaceous border fringes the upper lawn to the front
and right of the housc: beyond this the ground falls
sharply w0 a lower lawn which divides the garden of
the present house from that of old Sherwoed. The com-
bined cffect of the vividly green lawn, grey stone steps
and well-grown dcodar trees is dignified and peaceful,
and strongly rewin‘iscent of an old Inglish property.

Sherwood s still maintained for snisccllancous pur-
poscs, though not as a residence, Some rooms are used
by the Privaw Sceretary's office: and in 1926 and 127
what was formerly the big schoolroom (and at a later
date the drawmg-room of the temporary Government
House) has been used as a Council Chamber for the
Junc and July scssions of the Provincial Council. It
was found to be unexpeciedly comfortable and suitable
dnd the practice of sing it in this way swems likely w0
consnue. Sherwood witnessed the passing of an im-
portant picce of legislation in the Agra Tenancy Act of
1926. There are three tennis cowts in the greunds eof
Sherwood and lying between two of them a delightful
small picce of garden, remarkable for fine deodar trees.
and blue hydrangeas, from which thexe is a finc view
of the sharp pcak known as Goral Hill, anci the plains
beyond.

From the level of the lower lawn well-graded paths.
traverse the outlying portion of the grounds where the
golf course lies. To the lowest point of the grounds is
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a descent of about 300 fcet: but from a peint about rog
fect dewn on the road below old Sherwood the path
climbs in wup-7ags up the slopes of Ayarpam,offering
many hnc vicws both of the grounds themselves and of
the mountam scarp, unt} 1t cimerges from the grounds
on to the MacDonncll Circular Road at a height of
samc Goo feet above Goverrunent Housc.

Tt has been, for some years, the practice of successive

Governors to open the grounds on Sundays, and durmg
the fine weather many visitors are attracted to them.
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